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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (Stock code:
00601) is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in 1993. Upon the successful
transformation of business in 2018, the Group has become a leading high-tech
enterprise in the development, R&D and sales of rare earth magnesium alloys
new material products. We develop strong partnership with the Changchun
Institute of Applied Chemistry, Chinese Academy of Sciences and IFC. The
Group owns 22 patents in magnesium technology. Its series products will be
benefited from the growing demand with increasing application in different
fields.
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Profit attributable to owners
of the Company

Net profit margin
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Total Equity
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REMT is the leading enterprise in rare earth magnesium alloys new materials,

we are determined to build a better future with you. ™

—LttE
Shum Sai Chit

A

G

s o

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”’), | am pleased to present the annual results of Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "REMT Group”
or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

In 2019, the weak global economic growth, uncertainties in tariffs and trade, as well as the changes in supply and
demand affected the price of commodities. However, our employees made a concerted effort to counter these
difficulties which resulting a steady overall operation and development. On the premise of ensuring product quality,
the Group continued to enhance competitive strategy of product differentiation, optimize product mix, as well as
focus on high-quality development by taking advantages of the geographic location and advanced technology.
Looking ahead to 2020, with the expansion and extension of the application of magnesium, we will seize the
opportunities to make further progress by utilizing our strengths towards the Group's future development.

We have always been committed to becoming the largest enterprise for magnesium products in China. After
successfully disposing of its electronic business in 2018, the Group has achieved to transform the business
model and has started to focus on the development of new magnesium alloy materials business with an aim to
becoming a high-tech manufacturer enterprise for magnesium products. Currently, the Group’'s main products are
basic magnesium products and rare earth magnesium alloys products. To meet the growing market demand for
magnesium products, the Group plans to expand its production capacity by 60,000 tonnes per annum, we will then
become the world's largest manufacturer of rare earth magnesium alloys.

ERHE R EIERAR A A
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

During the past year, the Group strived to optimize the products mix by increasing that of high-performance rare
earth magnesium alloys which effectively enhanced the profitability. We focused on the research and development
of high-performance rare earth magnesium alloys products and continued to provide our customers with products
of high quality. The development of the Group is in line with the direction of “re-industrialization” in Hong Kong and
high-end manufacturing-technology innovation in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (‘GBA"). We
will combine our technological and resources advantages to build an innovative platform for rare earth magnesium
alloys new materials, and explore the high-tech development of the magnesium industry for China.

Favorable industrial policies continue to support and provide benefits to the Group’s high-quality development.
In recent years, the PRC Government has made great efforts to promote the development of the new materials
industry by introducing policies and regulations such as “Made in China 2025", "Development Plan for the Non-
ferrous Metal Industry (2016 -2020)"and focusing on the R&D and production of magnesium alloys new materials as
well as providing policy guidance for the rapid and orderly development of the industry. In October 2019, National
Development and Reform Commission revised and issued the “Catalogue for Guiding Industry Restructuring (2019
Version)”, which listed “high-performance magnesium alloy and its products” as an encouraging industry at the first
time, recognizing the importance of magnesium alloys as lightweight structural materials and potential development
for the future. With favorable policies, a good operating environment and a huge market, we are well placed on a fast

track for the business development of the Group.

Science and technology are the driving force of the development of our Group. Our development strategy focuses
on technological innovation and research & development. The Group relies on the scientific research platform of
the Changchun Institute of Applied Chemistry of Chinese Academy of Sciences and national experts to lead our R&D
Team. Driven by innovation, continuous process optimization and savings in energy consumption, the Group is able
to provide better quality products with more stable performance which enhance the competitiveness of our products.
Currently, the Group owns 22 patents for the production process and preparation method of high-performance
magnesium alloys which enhance the competitive advantage and development momentum of the Group.

We put emphasis on technological innovation and we have the courage to make breakthroughs. Our Xinjiang
production base has been recognised as a national-level “High and Advanced Technology Enterprise” in 2018. To
enhance the optimization and upgrading of magnesium production smelting technology, the Group adopts the
innovative vertical retorts smelting technology and moves towards the direction of mechanization, automation and
humanization production, thus placing our advanced production technology in a leading position in the industry.

Our high-quality products are well received by our customers. We have a large number of stable and high-quality
customers most of whom are large-scale domestic processing enterprises from downstream and magnesium
products enterprises; the widely acclaimed differentiated products of the Group are well received by our customers.
We are also proactive in expanding our customer base by providing them with bespoke product solutions. After years
of efforts, our sales network has covered the majority of the provinces and cities in China. It is worth mentioning
that in September 2019, our products have been accredited by Alunorf, the world's largest aluminum processing
enterprise, which enables the Group to broaden the sales channel for its high quality magnesium products.

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

We will continue to build on our strengths and we are determined to build a better future with you. Most of the
Group's high-performance rare earth magnesium alloys are patented products and therefore we have independent
pricing power. The Group adopts competitive strategy of product differentiation and achieved desirable performance
during the year under review. The Group will gradually increase the proportion of production and sales of high value-
added rare earth magnesium alloys in the future, further leveraging on the Group's patented technology and high-
tech advantages, and hence solidifying our leading position in the rare earth magnesium alloys segmented market.

Magnesium alloys is the "most developed and widely used lightweight eco-friendly strategic new material of the
21t century”. This new material has many excellent characteristics such as low density, high specific strength
and stiffness, high temperature resistance, good corrosion resistance, etc. It is an ideal material for lightweight
automobiles. The business of the Group will benefit from the development of the automobile industry as there
has been a significant increase in the overall growth rate of magnesium alloys in automobile application and the
condition for the rapid growth of magnesium industry. In addition to the transportation sector, magnesium alloys is
also widely used in 3C electronics, aerospace and medical fields. Entering 2020, there will be an explosive growth of
the 5G technology applications and such huge market will definitely provide an opportunity for the magnesium alloy
industry as well as the business of the Group.

We worked together with one heart one aim for the development of the Group and reward shareholders with our
achievements. Based on the Group's solid cash flow and sound financial position, as well as the EBITDA increased
4.3% YQY, the Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK0.6 cents per share to shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019. In future, taking into consideration of the Company's development
and the return on investment, we will endeavor to share the achievement with our shareholders.

On behalf of the Group, | wish to thank our shareholders, members of the Board, customers, bankers, and business
partners for their invaluable support. | would also like to express my sincere thanks to all the staff for their
dedication and hard work. The road ahead of us is long and despite the changing economy and challenges, we are
prepared to work harder. We will seize the precious time to making continual efforts for the future development of
magnesium alloys new material industry in China in order to create greater value for our shareholders.

By order of the Board
Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 April 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, the economic growth has been dragged down due to the US-China trade tensions and other factors which
affected the manufacturers’ business. Amid such challenges, the Group still forged ahead and sought for steady
development with the great effort by all the staff. The Group has seized the opportunity of high-performance
magnesium alloys being listed as the encouraged industry by the PRC government. We strive to create higher
return for our shareholders by focusing on the development of magnesium product business and the technological
innovation, proactively optimising the product mix and increasing the proportion of revenue of high-performance
magnesium alloy.

During the Year, the revenue of the Group was HK$1,515,291,000 (2018: HK$1,537,781,000), representing a year-on-
year decline of 1.5%; the overall gross profit margin increased 0.9% to 27.5%, profit attributable to shareholders was
HK$209,732,000 (2018: HK$217,691,000), representing a decrease of 3.7% year on year.

The declines in revenue and profit were due to the impact of devaluation of RMB currency to HK dollar exchange rate
by about 4.2% on the accounting settlement of consolidated statements; total sales volume slightly declined to 60,559
tonnes during the Period under Review from 61,463 tonnes in 2018. Nevertheless, the Group has still maintained
the core competitiveness of high gross margin rare earth magnesium alloy products, driving up the growth of gross
margin. Profit attributable to owners of the Company has decreased mainly due to the increase in administrative
cost arising from the one-off cost of equity-settled share-based payments of approximately HK$19,415,000 for the
offering of share option during the Year. After excluding such cost, the EBITDA (recurring) of the Year has increased
by HK$18,245,000 or 4.3% to HK$447,150,000 (2018: 428,905,000), which reflected the growth of core profits and
strong cashflow of the Group.

Core Competitiveness Driven by Effective Product Differentiation Strategy

Commodities such as magnesium ingots and basic magnesium alloys, the prices of which fluctuate along with
market conditions, are easily affected by the external environment. However, the Group takes advantages of its
patented technologies and mature production process to provide customers a variety of magnesium products from
low end to high end, so as to cope with customers’ different needs for magnesium alloy new materials.

The Group focuses on the development of high-end magnesium alloys products by leveraging on the patented
technologies and production processes from intermediate alloys to applied alloys. Relying on more R&D investment
and the long-term strategic partnership with the top R&D institutions specializing in rare earth magnesium alloy
in China, the Group has achieved remarkable results by using differentiation competitive strategy and made
breakthroughs in key technology and products innovation. In the future, the Group will continue to consolidate and
deepen the technical strength of the professional team, accelerate the industrialization of the scientific payoffs, focus
on the goals and differentiation competition by continuous innovation to enhance the core competitiveness of the
Group and hence making contribution to the Group's profitability.
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~ MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

High-quality Customers Loyalty and Optimization of Financial Structure

The Group's products are placed in the upstream of the industrial chain and well recognised by a wide range of
customers due to the business model of reliable quality, various selections and customized products solutions.
Currently, the Group's sales network covers mainland China and overseas.

After years of efforts in seeking and building partnership with new customers, the Group was able to accumulate
and retain numerous high-quality customers. During the Year, the Group has also built partnership with many large
and medium-sized aluminum processing enterprises and magnesium forging and processing enterprises in China.
Meanwhile, the Group has enhanced customer risk control management, significantly reduced its days of accounts
receivable from an average 55 days to 44 days during the Year.

Innovative Vertical Retorts Smelting Technology to Further Improve Production Efficiency

Our production base in Xinjiang has been recognised as a national-level "High and Advanced Technology Enterprise”.
We highly value technological innovation, and have adopted the advanced vertical retorts smelting technology
to promote the optimization and upgrading of magnesium smelting process, and move towards the direction
of mechanization, automation and humanization of our production system. By making full use of the advanced
manufacturing process, we are able to effectively improve energy conservation and environmental protection,
thereby significantly relieving the pressure on manpower and further reducing production costs and improving
production efficiency. The Group will take the opportunity of the promotion and application of vertical retorts
smelting technology; leverage on advantages of resources and location in Hami region; accelerate the pace of
industrial optimization; continue to accumulate new drivers of high-quality development of the Group through
technological innovation; enhance the core competitiveness of enterprises, and lead the magnesium industry to high
and advanced development.

Broad Prospects for Magnesium Alloys Application to Realise the Automobile Lightweight

Magnesium alloys are featured with light weight (75% lighter than steel, 33% lighter than aluminum, the lightest
structural engineering material so far), higher density, higher intensity, stronger vibration damping, better noise
reduction ability, excellent electromagnetic shielding performance, resistance to radiation, and environmental
protection, etc. These characteristics enable its application in areas such as transportation, 3C electronics, aviation
and aerospace, medical fields and so on. Magnesium alloys are cost-effective and the reserves of upstream raw
materials are abundant. With the depletion of other metals resources, it is expected that magnesium products will
become the best alternative to other light-metal structural materials.

Low carbon, energy conservation and emission reduction are being advocated in various countries around the world.
Stringent exhaust emission regulations set higher requirements for the production of automobiles. Lightweighting
in automotive industry has become an important direction in achieving energy saving and emission reduction.
According to test data, 100kg reduction of the weight of an automobile can save 0.7L fuel consumption per hundred
kilometers. That is, for every 10% reduction in weight, fuel efficiency can be improved by 6%-10%, and for every
10% reduction in weight on new energy vehicles, endurance can be improved by 5%-8%. In the current R&D and
manufacturing of automobiles, determining reasonable weight of an automobile has become a key indicator for
material selection. As an emerging lightweight metal material, magnesium alloys have high quality performance,
and weight reduction ability is better than steel and aluminum alloy, which make it the best solution to reduce weight
in automobile.

With continuous breakthroughs of the development of magnesium alloys and, many technological difficulties
being solved, automotive parts that can be produced by magnesium alloys continue to rise and the proportion of
magnesium alloys used in automobiles have significantly increased. It is known that the automotive market in some
developed countries have already adopted a large amount of magnesium-alloy auto parts to manufacture new-type
cars; in some instances, as much as 40kg per car. At present, the average amount of magnesium used per car is
only 5kg in China, which reflects the huge space for future exponential growth of the magnesium in the application of

automobiles weight reduction.
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Magnesium alloys has been the latest topic for research globally and is
known as the “most developed and widely used lightweight
eco-friendly strategic new material of the 21st century”. "
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

OUTLOOK

Magnesium alloys has been the latest topic for research globally and is known as the "most developed and widely
used lightweight eco-friendly strategic new material of the 21st century”. Magnesium is the most abundant metal
element on the earth and in the ocean. There are abundant magnesium resources in China with strong ability in
sustainable development and resource protection. Magnesium is also one of the few metals in China that can keep
up with the pace of development with the rest of the world. Magnesium alloys are regarded as the top three metal
contractual material named after steel and aluminum alloys. It can be widely used in the fields of transportation,
3C electronics, aviation and aerospace, medical, etc. Its outstanding performance will attract attention, vigorous
development and wide application in the “ ‘“‘Q;green economy” age. With the rapid development of 5G and lightweight
of automobile, there will be greater market demands for the application of magnesium alloys.

The Group will fully seize the opportunity for the development of the magnesium alloy industry, focus on
technological innovation and R&D, strengthen its differentiation competitive strategy, and build a strong position as
the leader of the high performance rare earth magnesium alloy new materials segment. In early 2020, the Group
was awarded as “The Best Small and Medium Sized Company” jointly issued by Zhitong Caijing, a financial news
platform for Hong Kong and US stock market, and Straight Flush (‘[E]FEIEBF 4" in Chinese). This accolade motivated
our management team to accelerate the industrial upgrading and optimization, and improve the scale of magnesium
alloy production capacity and the construction of projects. We will continue to provide our customers with better
services and further enhance our comprehensive competitiveness and profitability to build a better future for all.

In early 2020, there was an outbreak of Coronavirus Disease in various regions of China. The Chinese Government
had taken the most stringent epidemic preventive measures ever to contain the spread of the virus. Many provinces
and cities initiated the first-level response to a major public health emergency and imposed tighter regulation on
traffic control, which included extending the Chinese New Year holiday and postponing the time for workers to return
to work. These measures resulted in a temporarily shut down in both economic and social activities. Production
and sales are temporarily affected due to factors such as the failure of workers to return to work on time and the
suspended transportation which disrupted the freight and logistics of products. With the improvement in epidemic
prevention and control measures, the Chinese Government has successively introduced relevant policies and
measures with emphasis on the need to effectively maintain the normal economic and social order. In response to
the call of the Government and under premise of various epidemic prevention and control measures to ensure health
and safety of our employees, the Group has been able to gradually resume work and maintain normal operation and
production in mid-February 2020. All employees of the Group worked together to carry out a variety of stabilization
tasks and adjust contingency plan for customers in a timely manner to minimize the impact of the outbreak of
Coronavirus Disease on the operation.
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MIEERBE FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS SUMMARY

—E-hE

2019

FExT

HK$'000

(BEZX)

(Audited)
WA Revenue 1,515,291 1,537,781 1,158,261
E7 Gross profit 416,206 409,483 303,137
FER = Gross profit margin 27.5% 26.6% 26.2%
%?z%&jﬁlg%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ EBITDA (recurring) 447,150 428,905 394,212

I\é%l%l
BRI ERFEZE  EBITDA margin 29.5% 27.9% 25.4%
% B 4 ) Profit attributable to owners 209,732 217,691 162,069
of the Company
A = Net profit margin 13.8% 14.2% 14.0%
BEHET Total asset 2,554,324 2,372,218 2,558,801
T BRE Total equity 1,387,887 1,271,217 1,123,244
RITIRE Cash at banks 271,690 156,008 206,835
EELE Gearing ratio 34.2% 30.6% 30.5%
MEBEL XK EBITDA/Interest 6.20 5.87 17.62
&% AR 2 2 Return on equity 15.1% 17.1% 14.4%
EERERRER S Proposed final dividend per share HK$0.60 HK$0.50 —
cents &1L cents &1L

KB E Dividend payment ratio’ 18.8% 15.1% —

R 2019F 12431 B2 B#7TEEAK6,574390,058 RitE
Based on the issued ordinary shares of 6,574,390,058 shares as at 31 December 2019

Hin=EBHD

HERDHZH

HE R DY H#4/A15,615,000/87C (20184 : 15,328,000/87C) TERELHEAMEEARTLS @ HERDHH
S HEFUA L ZEL1.0% (20184 : 1.0%) o

1T 5

TBRXEEEREETHH  WEREHE BEXLEXER MELAFABRSEER AFEZTBRILENA

77,551,000 70 (20184 : 57,098,000 7T) * AL 147 20,453,000 708 36% * T HIEMEBHR AR
AIRHBIREMBENARNERE ARAREEE RN BEE Z ML 19,415,000 B TTAIE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES ANALYSIS
Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses were approximately HK$15,615,000 (2018: HK$15,328,000), which mainly
comprised of marketing expenses and sales staff wages. Selling and distribution expenses to income ratio was
approximately 1.0% (2018: 1.0%).

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised of expenses such as staff remuneration, depreciation and amortization,
audit and professional fees and research and development. The administrative expenses for the year was
approximately HK$77,5651,000 (2018: HK$57,098,000), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
HK$20,453,000 or 36%. The increase in administrative expenses was mainly due to equity-settled share-based
payments of approximately HK$19,415,000 included in the year resulting from the Options granted by the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Finance costs

Finance cost was approximately HK$72,064,000 (2018: HK$73,058,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately HK$994,000 or 1.4%. Of which approximately HK$51,536,000 (2018: HK$47,021,000) was the
accounting interest of the Convertible Bonds issued to Controlling Shareholder Ming Xin Developments Limited.
As Convertible Bonds comprise conversion rights, its accounting interest will be consolidated into the unaudited
Consolidated Financial Statement of the Company at fair value. The effective interest of Convertible Bonds payable
pay annum was 4%, i.e. HK$16,800,000 (2018: HK$16,800,000).

On 15 January 2020, the Company and Ming Xin Developments Limited agreed on the amendment of certain
conditions of the Convertible Bonds as follows:

(1) Maturity Date extended from 30 November 2020 to 31 January 2023.
(2) Interest Rate per annum from 1 December 2020 up to 31 January 2023 reduced from 4% to 3%.

The proposed amendments were passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting convened on 11 March 2020. For
details, please refer to the announcement and circular of the Company published on HKEx website on 15 January
2020 and 18 February 2020.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The EBITDA of the Group was HK$447,150,000 (2018: HK$428,905,000), representing a year-on-year increase of 4.3%.
The interest coverage increased to 6.20 times, and the Group has sufficient operating profit to cover interest on
borrowings. As the Group has strict cash flow internal management measures to control borrowings, basic operating
profits can cover basic expenses. Therefore, the Group's borrowing rate/gearing ratio is maintained at a reasonable
level of 34.2%. At the end of the Period under Review, cash in bank was HK$271,690,000, representing a year-on-
year growth of 74.2%. A final dividend of HK0.60 cents will be declared to the shareholders of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK0.50 cents). The dividend payout ratio increased from 15.1% to 18.8%. The
Group always adheres to the principle of honesty, emphasizes the importance of shareholder interests, and values
the returns to shareholders.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES AND TREASURY POLICY

Most of the Group's business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollars or Renminbi. The usual treasury policy of the Group is to manage significant currency exposure and minimize
currency risk whenever it may have material impact to the Group. During the Period under Review, the Group did not
engage in any interest rate or currencies speculations.

EMPLOYEES RELATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has 722 employees (2018: 686 employees). In addition to remuneration, the
Group also provides annual leave, medical insurance, provident fund and other fringe benefits for its staff.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group's financial condition, results of operations, and business prospects may be affected by a number of risks
and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group's businesses. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by our Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to our Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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EEBNWED T (E)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet business objectives arising from the
movement in market demand, product prices, foreign exchange rates, and interest rates. The management of our
Group keeps continually monitoring these exposures closely to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner against such risks.

Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the Mainland China and Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from primarily with respect to Renminbi, Hong Kong Dollars and United States Dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.
The Group’s management does not expect the net foreign currency risk from these activities to be significant and
hence, the Group does not presently hedge the foreign exchange risks.

The Group has planned to periodically reviews liquid assets and liabilities held in currencies other than Hong
Kong Dollars to evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and consider the usage of hedging instruments when
necessary.

Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis
and considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through variety of means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure of our customers. In order to minimise the credit risk,
management of the Group has authorised a team responsible for determining credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The procedures
required that all clients were regularly assessed so that the Group could keep track of their transaction records and
credit history.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises if the Group is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due because of an inability to obtain
adequate funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors cash flows and maintains an
adequate level of cash and cash equivalent to ensure the ability to finance the Group's operations and reduce the
impact from the fluctuation in cash flow.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or
from external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with functional departments of
the Group and its subsidiaries. Key function of the Group is to guide their standard operating procedures, limits of
authority and reporting framework. Our management will assess key operational exposures and effect raised in
business development regularly, implement relevant measures and improve the internal control so that risk can be
responded and mitigated on a timely and effective manner.

MEREEEZERER AR
2019 BAEFERE 25



T
o

EEBHAR S (E)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

RERR

BER R ERASBEIME A ZE S EEERRIRR EAYE RO RTERNIRE D RENBHIIRER
BREEBENAEN AEEFRAFERATHRUNRE  HEEXBERNE2ML  WEBEEFEERT
tEEST - HERENTI2EBREZR/FETBREZREBRLER  AfEBRFEIIRERRBETHNER —
R AREEREENREBBMENERASIEF LSRN MUERENETHADN - AEEZREER
EESTHEN YRAEZRER -

ADHEREEAT ZER

ANEREERREBEHNARERBHERAR - HATFNEY) - EHITEHATWENBEFARAR
FRBIIE  NEEAIREERKFESREAVSIERRE AGEE RAHXE  BRETEZEZABRAT
NEEEEBFERNAR  BLETRABRATYZEDRUMEHEEAT AR - ARE KT HHFMER
MBI SETEE DN - BLFMEBARRE THMENMHRIEKT  XARHEFN - AR - FAHAER
RE THARESAEEERBAT H UNBRHETWRSCEI - REEIABBERINREXNE © 05
REFHDEEXE -

RIBHRERE

REBRNRIREBEFEBTHREEZRBRRNDBRZENDIMEENRE ZKR - AEE 2B AR LI
BOXHNERECDA » e FAEBRFREEHANRRASTERAERXBTIRREZENBR - A&
EZRIRABER MM R RN EHUEEEBRRATENTE  AREAYRBEENETHLEET
BARBEMRFELLSMAEMRENILR Z RATFHEE  FBHETEERROZRLER - WIRRE
BIEMZERERAUANA - ERBONEYRLD - AEBHELECRKARCERLER ZEZERBEER
B4 - ERKIBETRTE I M ER KO K FTTE

BFZERAA
AEBHESEEBADARPERMONBRRET - MARARTERRA LD - At - AREEERL

SHERNMEBEENBRERENEZR BE—_FT-NF+ A=+ B LFEIEEARESEH - FRMM
o AEERPEANMRBENERERIER  RARAERNER -

26 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019



EEBNWED T (E)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

[nvestment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension of its return period relative to the expected return
or occurrence of losses on any particular investment attributable to changes of external factors. The Group is
well aware of the importance of exploring various business opportunities and territories on a continual basis, and
implemented this as the key task of the year. Key concern of projects investment framework will be balancing risk
and return across different investments, and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment decision
process. Proper investment assessment and due diligence procedures have been set up and detailed analysis will
be made before approving investments. Regular updates on the progress of the investments of our Group would be
submitted to the Board.

MANPOWER AND RETENTION RISK

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because of the Group's rapid business development while at the
same time facing severe competition over specialists from the industry and turnover of manpower. Our Group may
face the risk of not being able to recruit and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to cope with the expansion of business which would meet with our business objectives.
Our Group will periodically conduct a thorough analysis over its remuneration system, as well as incentive
mechanism and optimize the compensation structure so as to ensure remuneration packages can align reasonably
with market standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile, recruitment channels are broadened and the
talent pool of senior management are strengthened, so as to further enhance the promotion opportunities and career
path of employees. Systematic staff training are also being further enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of
training and the dissemination of corporate cultures and values.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means that the PRC Government is paying increasing attention
to environmental rules and policies and is imposing more stringent regulatory requirements. The Group's
subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises have been operating for a long while which might lag behind in
certain environmental and duty requirements promulgated by the PRC Government. The Group monitors impact on
business development closely raised from movements of environmental policy and external factors. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner and performing social responsibilities, the Group is committed to improving
and maintaining the long term sustainability of the communities in which it operates. The Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve
efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction. Green initiatives and measures have been adopted
in daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives include recycling of resources, energy saving measures and water
saving practices.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company's subsidiaries in Mainland China while the Company
is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group's operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date
of this report, to the best of our knowledge, the Group has no material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was approximately 722 as at 31 December 2019. The remuneration of
employees was determined by the Group with reference to their performance, work experience and current market
conditions. Employee benefits include annual leave, medical insurance and provident fund scheme. There has been
no labour dispute or significant change in the relationship with the employees that affect the normal operations of
the Group. The Directors believe that the Group maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with business partners, shareholders,
investors and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with our key stakeholders closely, the Group has
formulated corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also holds tailored activities from time to time,
such as annual/extraordinary general meetings, on-site visits, seminars and road-shows. Accordingly, our senior
management has kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared business latest update about
development of the Group with our stakeholders when appropriate. During the year, there was no material dispute
between our Group and its business partners or banks.

PROJECT OVERVIEW
Dolomite Mine

The Group's dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City, Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by openpit
method, and therefore no additional exploration works are involved or required. Only simple infrastructure works for
open-pit mining are involved in the development activities, and no underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for producing magnesium products of the Group. The transportation
cost for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production base of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December
2019, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were determined based on the yearly reduction of quantity
mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions
of estimation by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed. The resource and reserve volumes was
reviewed by the Group's internal geological experts. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group completed
a dolomite output of 109,601 tonnes. As compared with the state as at 31 December 2018, there was no material
change in the resource estimate and ore reserve of the dolomite mine.

During 2019, the expenditures incurred in mining activities were mainly for direct wages, materials, energy,
transportation, depreciation and amortisation, etc. Such expenditures have been included in cost of sales and
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 2019.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities of dolomite for the year ended 31 December 2019 were approximately
HK$4,221,000 while the expenditure incurred in exploration and development activities was HK$Nil.
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The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance to the long-term development of the Group and
has devoted considerable efforts in identifying, formulating,
implementing and enhancing corporate governance practices in
accordance with the needs of the Group. As mentioned below, the
Company has established the relevant committees/sub-committee
and adopted certain internal policies to improve internal controls
and enhance transparency of business operation of the Group with
a view to protect the interests of its stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has
complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), save for the deviations as disclosed in “Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer” section and as follows:

Under code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors
and other non-executive directors should also attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders.

—  Professor Meng Jian (being a non-executive Director), Dr. Tam
Wai Ho JP (being a non-executive Director) and Mr. Kwan Ngai
Kit (being an independent non-Director) were unable to attend
the general meetings held on 26 June 2019 as he was obliged
to be away for other matters.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the "Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct of the Group regarding
securities transactions of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) on terms no less exactly than required standard set out
in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2019.



BT
EREREE TR ERMEN
HITES

I (FERTHAER)
/@H?t

HHTES

R
BER ATHL

BYFHATES

BBIR 3L
RE AN
BRI

EXEHE

%%TQQE%JEKEIZ%&%MHK&E&
B RERAEB ZUKRE - 81
%%&%Tﬁtﬁﬁﬁ#ﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁfingHﬁ
EETIE  ZEEAEEES RV KER
B rEmER BIERMEREL R
5 UAREEMESZHIIRERBEER
BRE - ANEEZHEEKEERITHE
EXHEERERRE °

EESEERRER

E5exl %E TE TERTFR
L AR ’J? R ARESE
EHE mZL kERONRGZMED

‘f—lllf?*u”j%ﬁﬁﬁ%% M@ﬁﬁﬁ%%i’]
Hb SEHERINAEEER - E5g
Enﬁz 25§X1¢ J)J_/\Elnéiz TTE %%X
TERBES  UHEFAN  -EFe8
u&nEﬁZ%ﬁmi’] 2R ABREANEIX
:n:’i‘%f%%%ﬁﬁ&kfﬁ BR - TIREE -
Rt AN At HEST e L
FIERZEENEBRIIRE o

EXEa®E (R
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

THE BOARD

Currently, the Board comprises the following seven Directors:

Executive Directors

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chi Jing Chao

Non-executive Directors

Professor Meng Jian
Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP

Independent Non-executive Directors

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Kwan Ngai Kit

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategies
and policies of the Group, reviewing and monitoring its financial
performance, including preparing and approving financial
statements and overseeing operational matters of the management,
considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programmes and budget. Daily business
operations and administrative functions of the Group are delegated
to the management.

Board meetings and practices

The Board meets regularly and board meetings are held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices and
agenda of regular board meetings are served to all Directors at
least fourteen days before the meetings to ensure that all Directors
are given the opportunity to attend and to include matters in the
agenda. Discussion materials of regular board meetings are sent to
all Directors for their study at least three days prior to the meetings.
Draft minutes of board meetings are circulated to all Directors for
review and comments within a reasonable time after the meetings
prior to confirmation. Minutes are recorded in sufficient detail of the
matters considered by the Board and decisions reached.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board meetings and practices (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, four board meetings
were held by the Company, and the individual attendance rate of
each Director at meetings of the Board, its committees and General
Meetings is as follows:

i/ BT e &R
Attended/held
EEEEE ENZEEEE REZEEEE FHMZEEER WBOEEZEE RRAE
Executive
Audit Nomination Remuneration Management Members
Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Board meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
BITES Executive Directors
Tt Shum Sai Chit 44 - 17 - - 1
HER Chi Bi Fen 212 - - 11 - 0/1
hER Chi Jing Chao 202 - -
FHTES Non-executive Directors
FAE 6 Professor Meng Jian 44 - - . - 0/1
EERATHLT  Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP 2k - - - - 0/1
BUFHTES Independent Non-executive
Directors
B Kwong Ping Man Llk Llk 7 7 = 7
RER Cheung Sound Poon 304 3/4 - "N = 17
B Kwan Ngai Kit 314 304 171 = = 0/1

B EWHEBIFE31001) & (2) 0 A K3.10A
BZHRTE ARARCERERHER 2B
VIHERITESR  MBIUIIERTERFINE
LE—ZEBEES AR EER
K -BEg0REIZBIIFRNTESRE
BT R B SE 313 6 Bh BB L 1 i & B E
B2 FEREREK o

E=ZeNEBCRYEFERRENL - %
% KEBREMEKR FEHEOMER -

32 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors have
been appointed and at least one of the remaining Independent Non-
executive Directors has appropriate accounting or related financial
management expertise The Board has received annual confirmation
of independence from each of its Independent Non-executive
Directors as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Company updates the Directors of the latest changes in the
Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time. Apart from encouraging the
Directors to participate in continuous professional development
("CPD") courses to refresh and enhance their knowledge and skills,
the Company also arranged an industry-related in-house seminar
for the Directors and provided them with reading materials relating
to the directors’ duties. All Directors have provided the Company
with their records of training they received during the year ended
31 December 2019.

A summary of the trainings participated by the Directors during the

@A E2E 2 FIIB T year ended 31 December 2019 is as follows:
BESE BRI EEE
Types of continuous
professional
development
5= Directors trainingte'es
HITE=E Executive Directors
ot B Shum Sai Chit B
AR Chi Jing Chao B
FHITES Non-executive Directors
BB Professor Meng Jian B
EBER APt Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP B
BYKBITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BRI Kwong Ping Man AKX B
AandB
RE AR Cheung Sound Poon ANB
AandB
BT Kwan Ngai Kit AKX B
AandB
BfoEE - Notes:
A B B s IR IR AR A Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)
B: MERE TR BRARRXKNEETRERE B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the Company's business or

£ LHREREMERAEERERMERENE
Col=eiii=ue]

directors’ duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, etc.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties of the Company in accordance with the “Terms of
Reference of Corporate Governance Function” adopted by it:

(@) to develop and review the Company's policies and
practices on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  toreview and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable
to employees and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the
following corporate governance duties:

e Reviewed and approved the contents of the Corporate
Governance Report included in the 2018 annual report of the
Company;

e Adopted the "Board Diversity Policy”; and

e Reviewed the Whistle-blowing Policy of the Group to ensure
the arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting and internal
control, etc. were adequate.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Subsequent to the retirement of Ms. Chi Bi Fen as Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. Shum Sai Chi, the chairman and an executive Director,
has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Mr. Shum Sai Chit has numerous years of experience in the
management of the Company and is familiar with all aspects of the
Group's operations and the Board considers that Mr. Shum Sai Chit
is well qualified to take up the role of the Chief Executive Officer.

Following the appointment of Mr. Shum as Chief Executive Officer,
the Company does not have a separate chairman and Chief
Executive Officer and Mr. Shum holds both positions, in which
there is deviation to code provision A.2.1 of Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, which provides
(among other matters) that the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Shum Sai Chit had been in charge of the
overall management of the Company since 2015 and the Company
considered that such arrangement would promote the efficient
formulation and implementation of the Company's strategies which
would enable the Group to further develop its businesses effectively
at this stage. The Board will review the current structure from time
to time and shall make necessary arrangements when the Board
considers appropriate.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the Non-executive Directors and the
Independent Non-executive Directors are fixed for a specific term,
and shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has set up four committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Executive Management Committee respectively.
Each committee is delegated with specific authorities by the Board
in assisting the Board to discharge its duties and to administer
particular aspects of the Group's activities. The roles and functions
of each committee are summarized below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999. The Company has
adopted Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee in compliance
with code provision C.3.3 of the Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Kwong Ping Man (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon and Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to provide
an independent and professional advice on financial reporting,
to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control (including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company's accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget) and the sufficiency of external
and internal audits of the Group.

After each Audit Committee meeting, the chairman of the Audit
Committee will report to the Board of the significant issues
discussed by the Committee for the Board's information and/or
consideration.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings in the year ended 31
December 2019. The major tasks accomplished by it during the year
are summarized below:

®  Reviewed the final results for the period ended 31 December
2018 and the interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2019, and confirmed that the accounting principles and
practices adopted as well as the disclosures made in such
financial statements were appropriate, accurate and fair;

e Reviewed the internal control procedures and risk
management matters;



EFEEETZZRE W)
BEREES(#)

s HEERHMERBEE _T-NAFt+_
A=t—BULFEZEZLE: &

e RIARBESF LY FERBEE
FTEZER - BIEERKR LA
MREMEX ZBIRERBER
BEHM o

BERZESCENASBERE_T—NF
T-A=t+—HILz2F¥E -

FMEES

HNEZ BN —NSNFRKL - KRR
WRIEFZ ST Rl 2 57 RIER SC SR B2 IR R AR 7
MEZEe s BELE - FHEZEeXER
RRMITES B L RMEIBILIFNTT
EF IBAXEE(FMEZESER)
RFREARTE -

FNEZEeEERARAEERSEE
BABZHFMEELRBERESSIRY
2% - ESFRIBT-REZABT R
BERTEELSEEIEAS ZHM N
o ARAEBESERBIFNTES 2B
% HEERMEARARAEENGEETIE
ANBZHME  FMEES/REREHE
REBEMSHEF N - BAARRIARA]
BHRBEN 2 BNGENE

FMzEeEenaz=z_—_T—-hhF+-A
=t -HUEZFERBITE—REZE - A
B ARREERFEEEABZHMET
BEEH -

EXREAHmE(E)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

e Discussed with the auditors on the scope of audit for the year
ended 31 December 2019; and

e Reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 1996. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely
Mr. Chi Jing Chao and two Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure in relation to remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. It schedules to meet at least once
a year to review and determine the remuneration packages of
the Executive Directors and senior management and to make
recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of Non-
executive Director. In determining and approving the remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Company, the
Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance
and profitability of the Company and its business units.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2019 to review the existing remuneration
policies of the Directors and senior management of the Company,
etc.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The Company
has adopted Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee
with reference to code provision A.5.2 of the Code. The Nomination
Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely Mr. Shum Sai
Chit (chairman of the Nomination Committee) and two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man and Mr. Kwan
Ngai Kit.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Directors and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of Directors,
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors and monitoring the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting in the year ended
31 December 2019, together with by means of written resolutions,
to review and deal with the following major issues:

e Reviewed the qualifications and experiences of individual
Directors as well as their roles and responsibilities in the
Group to ensure the existing Board structure is fit for the
business growth of the Group; and

®* Reviewed the degree of diversity of the existing Board.

Executive management Committee

The Executive Management Committee was established in 2005 with
written terms of reference to operate as a general management
committee under the authority of the Board. Currently, the Executive
Management Committee comprises two Executive Directors,
namely Mr. Shum Sai Chit (chairman of the Executive Management
Committee) and Mr. Chi Jing Chao.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY SUMMARY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of its Board
members. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy
and competence, and the candidates will be considered against
certain objective criteria such as gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional qualifications, areas
of experience, skills, knowledge and length of services, etc. The
ultimate decision will be based on merits and contributions that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total remunerations
paid/payable by the Company to its external auditors in respect of
the audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

FExT
B 75 58 R Types of services HK$'000
EZ RS Audit services 1,639
FER Total 1,639

ESmRAMBHRZ2EME

BEMARSAESARETET R AT
R ARE B BN R EE I FEHREK -
BHE_Z—NWF+-_A=+—BIFE "
NE BT LA G F 4209,732,000%
7TE o
AKARZEMMEEMERR CBRES
ERAFNABFREFSTEZF LA L
[ B Z BRI [N -

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of
the Group's affairs and results. The Group recorded a consolidated
net profit of approximately HK$209,732,000 for the year ended 31
December 2019.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 57 to 64 of this annual
report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Since 20 August 2015, Mr. Fan Kwok Man, Raymond has been
appointed as the Company Secretary. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration in Insurance, Financial and Actuarial
Analysis from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and he is
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting,
financial management and corporate finance.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Fan has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Convention of Special General meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition to the Company'’s registered office. If within 21 days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the
“Companies Act”).
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continuea)

Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, registered
Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal at a general
meeting if they:

(a) represent not less than 5% of the total voting rights of the
Company at the date of the deposit of the requisition; or

(b) are not less than 100 registered Shareholders.

The written requisition stating the resolution(s) should be duly
signed by the registered Shareholder(s) concerned, accompanied
by a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with must be deposited at the Company's registered office.
The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements. The Shareholder(s) concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act
once valid documents are received.

Enquiries from Shareholders

The Board welcomes views, enquires and concerns in relation to
the management and corporate governance of the Group from
Shareholders. Shareholders may at any time send their enquires
and/or concerns to the Board in writing by email (info@remt.com.
hk), by fax ((852) 2802 2697) or by mail to the principal place of
business of the Company for follow up.

For shareholding enquiries, Shareholders may contact the Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company was
updated on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong ("Stock Exchange”) on 13 June 2018 and there is no
other change in such constitutional document during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibilities for risk management and
internal control of the Group. The system of internal control is
designed to manage and mitigate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives with reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has conducted annual review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group which covers the review of
risk management functions, financial, operational and compliance
controls, the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company's accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programmes and budget, etc.. The Board
considered the internal control system of the Group effective and
adequate.

The Company have formulated an inside information policy
providing guideline on handling inside information. The Company
regularly reminds the directors and employees about compliance
with all policies adopted by the Company regarding inside
information including the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules in relation to dealings in securities of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group is committed to enhance investor relationship by
increasing its transparency to the investment community.

The following measures have been taken by the Company to keep
investors informed of the latest developments and news of the
Group and to facilitate a two-way communication between the
Company and its Shareholders:

(@) Mailing corporate communication documents such as interim
reports, annual reports and circulars to the Shareholders
periodically and uploading the same on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(b) Publishing announcements through the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(c) Making available of the Company's corporate and products
information on its website;

(d) Organizing general meetings to facilitate direct exchange of
views between the Shareholders and the management of the
Company; and

(e)  Encouraging investors to communicate with the Company
through the Company's website from time to time.

At the Company’s last AGM held on 26 June 2019, all the resolutions
relating to the adoption of financial statements, re-election of
Directors, reappointment of auditors and grant of general mandates
to issue and repurchase shares have been duly passed. The
forthcoming AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held on 30
June 2020.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHUM Sai Chit, age 62, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the Managing
Director of Go Modern Limited which was principally engaged in
manufacturing of textile products and trading activities. In 1984,
Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles Import and Export Corporation as a
Manager to oversee importing and exporting of textile products. Mr.
Shum is a graduate of Consumer Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr.
Shum is currently an executive director of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509).

Mr. CHI Jing Chao, aged 37, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 27 June 2019. Prior to his appointment, he
was the chief corporate affairs officer of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509). He was responsible for the
overall corporate activities. Mr. Chi has more than 10 years of
experience in corporate affairs. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Financial
and Administrative Management. Mr. Chi has joined Century
Sunshine Group Holdings Limited since August 2004. Mr. Chi is
the nephew of Mr. Chi Wen Fu, the substantial shareholders of the
Company. He is currently an executive director of Century Sunshine
Group Holdings Limited.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor MENG Jian, age 63, is a professor of State Key Laboratory
for Rare Earth Resource Utilisation, Changchun Institute of Applied
Chemistry of Chinese Academy of Science. He is a deputy officer
of Professional Committee of Solid Science and New Materials
of Chinese Society of Rare Earth. He is also a director of Chinese
Society of Rare Earth and Nonferrous Metals Society of China. He is
an expert of the Association of China Rare Earth Industry and China
Magnesium Association. Professor Meng has been engaging in
research and development of rare earth magnesium alloys and new
materials. He has contributed to the development and application of
rare earth magnesium alloys in China. Professor Meng majored in
semiconducting from Jilin University, and holds a master's degree
from the chemistry department of Chinese Academy of Science. He
holds a degree of doctor of Engineering from Toyohashi University
of Technology, Japan. Professor Meng is currently a consultant of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) for rare
earth magnesium alloys projects.
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Dr. TAM Wai Ho, Samson JP, aged 56, graduated from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1986 with a Bachelor degree of Science
(Hons), and later was awarded the degree of Doctor of Philosophy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. In 1992, Dr Tam
was awarded the "Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong” and
was named one of the "Ten Outstanding Young Persons” in 1997.
He was an elected member of Legislative Council of Hong Kong
(Information Technology, 2008-2012) and is now Chairman of Hong
Kong Business Angel Network, Chairman of Hong Kong Industry-
University-Research Collaboration Association, Partner of Inno
Angel Funds, Vice Chairman of the PRD Council, Federation of Hong
Kong Industries.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Ping Man, age 55, is a director of O'Park Corporate
Services Limited which provides corporate advisory services.
Mr. Kwong had served as the chief financial officer of various
companies for almost seven years. Mr. Kwong has over 15 years of
experience in accounting, finance and administration. He obtained
a master’'s degree in Professional Accounting from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Australian Society of
Certified Practising Accountants, fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Mr. Kwong is
currently an independent non-executive director of Tang Palace
(China) Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1181), Dragon King Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8493) and Royal Deluxe Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 3789).

Mr. CHEUNG Sound Poon, age 59, is currently a senior audit
manager at Chui & Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W.
K. Yam & Co. (CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 35 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of audit committee of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509).
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Mr. KWAN Ngai Kit, aged 40, is currently the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of Modern Dental Group Limited (Stock
Code: 3600). Mr. Kwan has over 10 years experience in auditing.
He was a senior manager in assurance department of Ernst &
Young. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Kwan holds a MBA degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor's degree in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Kwan
is currently an independent non-executive director of A & S Group
(Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 1737), Lai Group Holding Company
Limited (Stock Code: 8455) and Leyou Technologies Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1089).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CUI Zikui, age 47, is responsible for the operation management
and business planning of the Group’s magnesium business. Mr. Cui
has a diploma in business management. He has over 20 years of
experience in the magnesium industry. He joined the Group in 2015.

Mr. BAI Hai Sheng, age 51, is responsible for the research and
development and marketing strategy management of the Group’s
magnesium products. Mr. Bai is a graduate of Heat Treatment of
the Material Studies in the Taiyuan University of Technology. He has
over 20 years of experience in the magnesium industry. He joined
the Group in 2016.

Mr. LU Tianyuan, age 55, is responsible for the corporate affairs
management of the Group. Mr. Lu is a graduate of Chinese
Language and Literature and is an economist. He has over 15 years
of relevant experience in corporate affairs management. Prior to
joining the Group, he has worked in a large alloy enterprise for over
25 years. He joined the Group in 2015.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate are set
outin notes 1, 19 and 20 to the financial statements, respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group's
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 14 to 29 of this annual report. This discussion
forms part of this directors’ report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital
importance to the long-term development of the Group. In order
to minimise the environmental impact, the Group will continue to
review and improve the effectiveness of its management practices
from time to time. "Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
will be published on or before June 2020. For details, please refer to
the Company’s website.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 65 to 174.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the year under
review. The Board recommends the payment of final dividend to
Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2019 of HK$0.60
cents per share. The retained earnings of the Group as at 31
December 2019 was approximately HK$683,688,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2019:

(i)  The Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
accounted for 7.2% and 19.1% respectively of the Group's total
revenue.

(ii)  The Group's largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 15.7% and 51.8% respectively of the Group's
total purchases (not including purchases of items which are of
capital in nature).

According to the understanding of the Board, none of the Directors,
their associates or any Shareholders who owned more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest
customers or the five largest suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated as
appropriate, is set out on page 175. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended) ("Companies Act’) amounted
to HK$1,074,492,000. Under the Companies Act, the Company's
contributed surplus is also available for distribution to the
Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution made out of
contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its
assets would thereby become less than its liabilities.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chi Jing Chao

Non-executive Directors:

Professor Meng Jian
Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Kwan Ngai Kit

Pursuant to Bye-Law 86(2) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Chi Jing Chao will
hold office until the forthcoming AGM of the Company and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Shum Sai Chit and Mr.
Kwan Ngai Kit will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer himself
for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man, Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon and Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit, an annual confirmation confirming
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the Company considers all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31 December 2019, the interests of the Directors and their
associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFQ")), as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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Interests in the Shares, underlying shares and debenture of the Company

11""‘—(
RAEESSRANEES2EERYE
Number of ordinary shares interested or
deemed to be interested
EERAT
2RITRAE
B8 2z
=) EA#Z Fikz BREBBE ARER HE  #oast
Approximate
percentage
of interests
in the issued
Personal Family Number of Corporate share capital
Director interests interests options held interests Total of the Company
3y
Long position
R - - 30,000,000 - - 0.46%
Shum Sai Chit
SRR - - 3,000,000 - - 0.05%
Chi Jing Chao
oy e = = 5,000,000 = - 0.08%
Meng Jian
BEFKFMAT([EBEL]) 63464000 4,600,000 5,000,000 75,754,236 148,818,236 2.26%
Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP (Bt 1) (Htet2)
("Dr. Tam”) (Note 1) (Note 2)
BB R 3 5,000,000 0.08%
Kwong Ping Man
5RAE AN - - 5,000,000 - - 0.08%
Cheung Sound Poon
RARRGE - 4,000,000 5,000,000 - - 0.08%
Kwan Ngai Kit (H1at4)
(Note 4)
KB
Short position
i
Nil

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continueq)

Notes:

1.

Such shares included the 51,464,000 shares which are jointly owned by Dr. Tam Wai Ho,
Samson JP and Mr. Tam Wai Tong, Thomas.

The 75,754,236 shares are registered in the name of Earnmill Holdings Limited
("Earnmill”), a company which is owned by Kiteway Assets Limited (“Kiteway”) and TTNB
Profits Limited (“TTNB") in equal shares. Kiteway and TTNB in turn are wholly owned by
Dr. Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP and Mr. Tam Wai Tong, Thomas respectively.

The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2019 was
6,574,390,058 shares.

4,000,000 shares in the Company are the number of the underlying shares which may be
issued to Ms. Lee Man Ching, the spouse of Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit, under the options held.

Interests in the shares of associated corporations
(long position)

EEHA HEZERE
Name of associated
Names of Directors corporation
YRR G ERERER AR

Shum Sai Chit (Mt )

Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited
("Century Sunshine”)

i g At
Chi Jing Chao Century Sunshine
REXR L]
Cheung Sound Poon Century Sunshine
BR G 1P
Kwan Ngai Kit Century Sunshine

MERSIRARERSLBRYE (HR)
Number of ordinary shares interested or
deemed to be interested (long position)

Fits (L HREEE
iR B#T2ZRE
B AR 8H B ZBERL
% of issued
share capital
Personal Number of associated
interests of options held Total corporation
14,666,305 20,000,000 34,666,305 0.76%
1,633,998 8,000,000 9,633,988 0.21%
- 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.11%
- 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.09%
(Wiat1)
(note 1)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continuea)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations
(long position) (continued)

Notes:

(1) 4,000,000 shares in Century Sunshine are the number of underlying shares which may be
issued to Ms. Lee Man Ching, the spouse of Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit, under the options held.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors or their associates had any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees for the
development of the Group’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 4 December 2017 (the
“Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly include employees
and directors of the Group and any substantial shareholders, and
the consultants or adviser, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
service providers, agent, customer and business partner of the
Group who have contribution to the Group. The Scheme, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
since its establishing date. The remaining life of the Scheme is
approximately 8 years (expiry on 4 December 2027).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

“Options”).

As at 31 December 2019, options to subscribe for a total of
411,400,000 Shares were outstanding under the Scheme (the

R2019%F 120196
1818 ERRE FATE  FREHE  FRAX 12A318 -
BE EBRE ZBRE 2BRE BRE FhEZ B8 (W)
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled lapsed Transfer Held at Exercise
1 January during the during during during during 31 December price
2019 year the year the year the year the year 2019 (note)
BT
HKS
W &8
Employees 146,400,000 - - - - 17,000,000 163,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - - - - 40,000,000 05
- 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) = - 150,000,000 03
B) EZ
Directors
Tt R 30,000,000 - - - - - 30,000,000 04
Shum Sai Chit
HER 20,000,000 - - - - (20,000,000) - 0.4
Chi Bi Fen*
ik - - - - - 3000000 3,000,000 0.4
Chi Jing Chao®
&g 5,000,000 - - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Meng Jian
BEFATHT 5,000,000 - - - - - 5,000,000 04
Tam Wai Ho, Samson J P
BiRx 5,000,000 - - - - - 5,000,000 04
Kwong Ping Man
REK 5,000,000 - - - - - 5,000,000 04
Cheung Sound Poon
AR 5,000,000 - - - - - 5,000,000 04
Kwan Ngai Kit
221,400,000 - - - - - 221,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - - - - 40,000,000 05
- 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) = - 150,000,000 03
261,000,000 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) = - 411,400,000 -
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 44 to 46 of the
annual report.

DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Directors’ interests in securities”, at no time
during the year was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company's board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance was in
force for an indemnity against liability incurred by the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Directors nor a connected entity of Directors had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of
the Group to which any of the Company's holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold

or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2019, the register of substantial shareholders
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain
Directors, the following Shareholder had notified the Company of
relevant interests and short positions in the issued share capital of
the Company:

FrisE &R LEe8T
RREE RIpE B BARzBZH
Number of ordinary % of issued
Name of Shareholder shares held share capital
Ming Xin Developments Limited (#72# 7 & 5) (note 1 and 5) 4,761,117,434 (L) 72.42
200,000,000 (S) 3.04
New Bright Group Limited (#7222 % 5) (note 2 and 5) 4,761,117,434 (L) 72.42
200,000,000 (S) 3.04
LB AR EIERER AR (A3 K 5) 4,761,117,434 (L) 72.42
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (note 3 and 5) 200,000,000 (S) 3.04
AT (M4 K 5) 4,761,117,434 (L) 72.42
Chi Wen Fu (note 4 and 5) 200,000,000 (S) 3.04
et - Note:
(1) 4,761,117,434 f%F Ming Xin Developments Limited (1) 4,761,117,434 shares are beneficially owned by Ming Xin Developments Limited;
BEmAa -
(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited & New Bright (2) Ming Xin Developments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Bright Group

Group Limited 22 EMBAR] » Ukt * ThES L
FEGIME © New Bright Group Limited R B A
Ming Xin Developments Limited B # %5 2 2 2%
92 s o

(3) New Bright Group Limited Bt 425t 2 2 EWB A
Al o dut  MBFLBERAME LS ER
A AE Ming Xin Developments Limited A 2
2ERR D 2 s o

(4) M XCE %A TR 42 [5 ¥ (Ming Xin Developments
Limited Z & &R AR RRAE LZEHI =52 —
A ERARE U REBFARBAEROIME -
M XE % & 1R A # B Ming Xin Developments
Limited A ## 2 2 EARD 2 % ©

(5) RZTE-AFF+ZA+=8 tEBEXEERERAE
R A7) & Ming Xin Developments Limited ({fE &% T
A) X Mega Prime Development Limited (¥ 1
AR AN RBEEGZE - Bt ZBTARER
% HA A R A 85 U BB 200,000,000 AR AR 19 2 1
KRt -

Limited. As such, New Bright Group Limited is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

(3) New Bright Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine. As
such, Century Sunshine is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Ming
Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO

(4) Mr. Chi Wen Fu controls more than one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Century Sunshine (the ultimate holding company of Ming Xin
Developments Limited). As such, Mr. Chi Wen Fu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.

(5) On 13 December 2019, Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and Ming Xin
Developments Limited as grantors and Mega Prime Development Limited as optionee
entered into the Call Option Agreement, pursuant to which the said grantors agreed
to grant to the said optionee the right and option to acquire 200,000,000 Shares.

MEREEEZERER AR
2019 BAEFERE 33



EFEHE(E)
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

FERFE®)

BREXFEEEIN R-T—-NAF+ A
=t—8  AAAEZETAALHE
KA R RN BRI h B IR IBE S
NG IRBIZAR AN QR E 2 E IR
% o

BXhBER

NEHAA A REAP L BT B EEE
RZIEX - REARRR AR HIMIRE K
RBEEHM -

FAEXS

AER N EFRIREGERNEERS ©
RIS RRMIFE 41 I EEE RN ©

BHARBKRE

BB ARNARECRSNER RIFE
FHA - RAREN A2 Rk B AT1T
A ADE —HM R EDRAIF TR

ARHRE -

& B ET

R-ZE—tFRALH » RKGFAIER
PRBHER D BAZEED - MBS EH
FIERARAMN _-_ZT—tFLANAESR
ERARNRTIZERED - HAFTELMZEER o
B L& ARRNBE=ZFALEE
BEMZEED - BASEERAERA
AIREEm SR AAREREERERR
BEAE LRE-RHER  BREAS
SRV EBAR AR RANR B Z XA -

AEEEm

it R4

B4

5
—E-FTFMA+H

56 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 41 to the financial statements,
there was no connected transaction during the year and in prior
period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, as at
the latest practical date prior to the printing of this report.

AUDITORS

On 7 June 2017, Ernst & Young resigned as auditors of the Company
and HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited was appointed as auditors
of the Company on 4 July 2017 to fill the vacancy so arising. Save
for disclosed, there has been no other change in the auditors of the
Company during the past three years. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited will retire and the Company will propose a resolution at its
forthcoming AGM to reappoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
as auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board

Mr. Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong

16 April 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

31/F, Gloucester Tower 55

The Landmark IR

11 Pedder Street S|ITH11 5%

Central BHES

Hong Kong ERTITREI 12
To the Shareholders of

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 65 to 174, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

Impairment of trade receivables
Refer to Note 3 and Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had
gross trade receivables of HK$149,011,000
and provision for impairment of trade
receivables of HK$1,726,000. Provision is
made for lifetime expected credit losses on
trade receivables.

Management applied judgement in
assessing the expected credit losses.
Receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance. Expected credit
losses are also estimated by grouping the
remaining receivables based on shared
credit risk characteristics and collectively
assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking
into account the nature of the customer,
its geographical location and its ageing
category, and applying expected credit
loss rates to the respective gross carrying
amounts of the receivables. The expected
credit loss rates are determined based on
historical credit losses experienced from
the past 3 years and are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information
such as macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

We focused on this area due to the
magnitude of the trade receivables and
the estimation and judgement involved in
determining the expected credit losses
allowance of the trade receivables.

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Our procedures in relation to management's
assessment on provision for impairment
losses of trade receivables included:

* Understood and validated the credit
control procedures performed by
management, including its procedures
on periodic review of aged receivables
and assessment on expected credit
losses allowance of receivables;

* Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy
of ageing profile of trade receivables
by checking to the underlying sales
invoices;

* Tested on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables against
bank receipts; and

* (btained management's assessment
on the expected credit losses allowance
of receivables. We corroborated and
validated management’s assessment
based on the historical settlement pattern
from the past 3 years, correspondence
with the customers, evidence from
external sources including the relevant
public search results relating to the
financial circumstances of the relevant
customers and market research
regarding the relevant forward-looking
information such as macroeconomic
factors used in management's
assessment.

Based upon the above, we found that
the estimation and judgement made by
management in respect of the expected
credit losses allowance and the collectability
of receivables were supportable by the
available evidence.
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Key audit matter

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Refer to note 3 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As of 31 December 2019, the Group
had property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$1,524,989,000, which
mainly comprised leasehold land and
building of HK$319,200,000 and plant
and machinery of HK$790,074,000. We
focused on this area because the balance
of property, plant and equipment was
significant and the assessment process
is complex and highly subjective which
based on the selection of appropriate
comparables and assumptions such as
discount rate, future revenue. The Group
engaged an external valuer to perform the
valuation for the recoverable amount of the
leasehold land and building and plant and
machinery.

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

QOur procedures in relation to management's
impairment assessment included:

* Evaluating the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

* Assessing the methodologies used
and the appropriateness of the key
assumption based on our knowledge
of the relevant industry and using our
valuation experts;

* (hallenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge
of the business and industry; and

* Checking, on a sampling basis, the
accounting and relevance of the input
data used.

We found that the assumptions were
supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

MEREEEZERER AR
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

® |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

® Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in @ manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.
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The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: P06901

Hong Kong, 16 April 2020



mAEEERAEMEEmKAR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

—NFE+=FA=+—HIL5EE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—E-NF —E-N\F
2019 2018
B 5 Fi&xT Tt
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BEREER CONTINUING OPERATIONS
H&Z\ \ Revenue 5 1,515,291 1,537,781
HEMRA Cost of sales (1,099,085) (1,128,298)
EAH Gross profit 416,206 409,483
HaA RHE MR - Other income and other gains, net
HER 5 12,152 3,527
HE kDT Selling and distribution expenses (15,615) (15,328)
TR Administrative expenses (77,551) (57,098)
B8R Finance costs 7 (72,064) (73,058)
BiAER PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 263,128 267,526
FT{S % sz Income tax expense 10 (53,396) (49,835)
BEREEK2 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM
FERER CONTINUING OPERATIONS 209,732 217,691
ERIEREEK DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
EARHEEER 2 RE  Profit for the year from
s ) discontinued operations 13 - 68,169
F S % Profit for the year 209,732 285,860
Htt2HEEE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
BREBHEENSE Other comprehensive loss to be
ZEEMNEMEE reclassified to profit or loss
fE518 - in subsequent periods:
BMEBINEE 2 Exchange differences on translation
N E%R of foreign operations (79,605) (106,102)
REERBARE Release of reserves upon disposal
e of subsidiaries 13 - (43,618)
FEHMEE Other comprehensive loss for the year,
B8 - HBRATSH net of income tax (79,605) (149,720)
FEXHEKALLTE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR 130,127 136,140

BERHR R EER AR QA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
HE-_ZF—NF+=-A=+—HLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2019

STl -—= %
2019 2018
GE FHT FHT

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

THIALTRIGERZ)EF] © Profit for the year attributable to:

ZINNEIEF DN Owners of the Company
—REBELEHETS — from continuing operation 209,732 217,691
—REBEKLE — from discontinued operation
REXRB - 68,081
209,732 285,772
e Non-controlling interests
—REFELEET — from continuing operation - -
—REBERKILE — from discontinued operation
X - 88
- 88
209,732 285,860
THATEIEFERNZE  Total comprehensive income
DONGE for the year attributable to:
ZAN/NIE 2SN Owners of the Company
—REFELEES — from continuing operation 130,127 114,970
== — from discontinued operation
REXRK - 20,771
130,127 135,741
FEFE R M Non-controlling interests
—REFBELEHEFR  — from continuing operation - -
—REBEKLE — from discontinued operation
REER - 399
- 399
130,127 136,140
BRER : Earnings per share:
REFER From continuing and
RIS K discontinued operation
— &K — basic 12 3.191ll cents 4,351\l cents
— s — diluted 3.191ll cents 4,301l cents
REFESEELK From continuing operation
—HEARRE#E — basic and diluted 12 3.194lli cents 3.3l cents
BEBT 2~ M iF BANG A B iR 2k ~ 4Rk 26 The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
2 o financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF F|NANC|A|. POSITION

R-ZE—NF+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2019

—E-NE —E2-N\F
2019 2018
[VPEE Fi&T T8t
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
EREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
W - BB KRG Property, plant and equipment 14 1,524,989 1,534,027
TEf M EFIE Prepaid land lease payments 15 - 52,036
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16 50,928 —
B AE Intangible assets 17 34,661 40,030
RERE Mining rights 18 45,899 47,298
ERBIRITER Pledged bank deposits 24 9,549 9,757
IEREBEERRE Total non-current assets 1,666,026 1,683,148
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
FE Inventories 21 186,807 146,419
BN B SR N FEUWZYE  Trade and bills receivables 22 151,471 217,980
TEf TR EFRIE Prepaid land lease payments 15 - 1,319
TEATFRIA %kéEZQ Prepayments, deposits and
H b R I8 other receivables 23 287,879 177,101
EEW%E TR Pledged bank deposits 24 7,328 14,975
HekReEEER Cash and cash equivalents 24 254,813 131,276
ME)EEEE Total current assets 888,298 689,070
RBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
BB S BRI Trade payables 25 47,993 41,849
HEMENFIENESTEA  Other payables and accruals 26 25,211 48,570
E48E Contract liabilities 26 19,742 7,799
%%ﬂ Borrowings 27 315,765 65,706
AR & 2 Convertible bond 31 385,072 -
FERI TR Tax payable 10,794 8,154
mEaEER Total current liabilities 804,577 172,078
RBEEZFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 83,721 516,992
EEEBEBRBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 1,749,747 2,200,140

MR EEIERBR AR
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FEMBMRRRTE)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
R-ZE—NF+=-HA=+—H As at 31 December 2019

—2-hF —F-N\F

2019 2018
[VPEE Fi&T T8t
Notes HKS'000 HKS'000
kRBERE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
LI A Deferred revenue 30 68,283 69,772
Al PR (E 5 Convertible bond 31 — 350,336
EEN Borrowings 27 171,677 310,921
ELETREAE Deferred tax liabilities 32 8,872 14,742
B — B IR 2 508 Amount due to a shareholder 29 113,028 183,152
JEREBBERRE Total non-current liabilities 361,860 928,923
BEEFE NET ASSETS 1,387,887 1,271,217
ER EQUITY

AAREEAEGRER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

B BITIRA Issued capital 33 657,439 657,439
fE Reserves 35 730,448 613,778
RSB TOTAL EQUITY 1,387,887 1,271,217
MREBEEBITLEZEREMFHRERZ The consolidated financial statements on pages 65 to 174 were
ZEFNA+AABRESTE LIRE approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors on 16
HIED - WEHTINESREEE - April 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:
Mt E L HEE L
Mr. Shum Sai Chit Mr. Chi Jing Chao
EZE EZE
Director Director

BEMT < M 5T B AR & B FS 33k 2 4 Ak BB The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

7 e financial statements.
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mAEZBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-_ZT—NF+=A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019
KOAREEAARL
ttributble oequit olders ot Company
B8 Rf EAEE THRES Ex Fisl
Br BEE  RE GRURE REGE BREGE ITBE AMGE EUGR MBRE REEN M R B
Sae (ol Convertitle Share Bchange Yor-
lwed  premitm  redemption ~ Specil  bondsequiy ofn  Satdy  Nerer Oher  flctation ~~ Relaned cntroling
ol aent vsene e oresene reseme resene  resene  resene reseneeamings Sbl sl Totdl
T TEn TEn THn THEn TEn TEm TEn TR TR TR TR T T
BESOOD HKSOOD HNSOOD MASOOD SO0 MKSOOD MASOD SO0 MKSOOD MASOD SO0 MKSOD HASOND  HKSOOD
Kkl i { T
RO RGO WED RO RO Ra RW MO MR M
Tote ) il el
] G Mol el Ntef) il S0 Mol Nl Notef)
#-5-/\F-A-8 Asat1 January 2018 8a7439 1560077 W9 (60819 86548 80427 (1500590 (1708 10983 300708 117M2 (7836 11927
EHT Profitfo theyear - - - - - - - - - WM wm B
EEEGAE(EE)/MA - Othercomprehensive oss)income
HBFER: fo the year, net o ncome fax
hEBIsBfES, Bxchangedference arisngfom
EizE translatons offoeign aperations (106413) 06413 311 (108100
REENBAREERRE  Releaseofreserve pon disposal
of subsidaries - (3618) (£3418) [é318)
EERF(HE)/MALE  Totd comprehensive oss)income
forthe year - (150031 28502 135040 309 136140
HEHBAT Dispoal o subsires 60819 - - (] (5444 S 5/ )
RELERARTZRE  Eouiysetled sharebased ransactons - - B - - - B 8364
e Transfer toresene - S5 (15455 - -
ﬁé S NETZA=1-8  Asat 31 December 2018
-15-5-1 and 1 January 2019 857439 1560077 49 86,548 836k 104882 (15005920 (22233 (13908 515381 1M 1227
ﬁr il Prfitfo theyear - - - - - - - - - 0973
FEEpAESE (ther comprehensiv oss
HIAEH: for the year,net o ncome fax
BEENSRAEE Bxchange diferences aisng from
LEREE translatons offoreign aperations - (19,605 (79,605 (19,405
EERF(BE)/MALE  Totd comprehensive oss)income
forthe year - (19605 200732 130007 130127
EfRE Diidend pd - - 7 (31 3247
FEEERANSIES  Foutysetledsherebased ransactons R 11 -9 19415
BRERE Tranfer to esene - B i (] - -
Ho2-nE Asat 31 December 2019
t2=1-8 057,439 1,560,077 &9 86568 1T 134 (150059 (20233 (218473) 683688 1387887 - 13880
MR EEIERBR AR
2019 BERE 69
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

e

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

70

HEFBERSEAMBRREPOEEFE
730,448,000 87T (=F —/\4 : 613,778,000 7T) °
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Note:

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

NE+=A=+—HILFJZ For the year ended 31 December 2019

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$730,448,000 (2018:
HK$613,778,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the Shares of the Company
which was transferred from the Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and
cancellation of Shares by the Company.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the subsidiaries based on
10% of their net profit of the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") statutory financial
statements and that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC
and the relevant PRC rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set aside
10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC statutory financial statements
as statutory reserve, except where the reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the
subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can only be used to make good the
subsidiaries’ previous years' losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or
to increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State Administration of Work Safety of the
PRC and other relevant regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds mainly
for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed rates. These funds can be used for
maintenance and/or improvements of safety of these activities, and is not available for
distribution to shareholders.

Merger reserve was arising on the application of merger accounting method in relation to
the combination with entity under common control.



mAERERE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE—ZT—NF+=-A=+—HI-%Z For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
B aE Fi#gn T#&r
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
REXBZRERE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
AR A - Profit before tax
REFELCEER From continuing operations 263,128 267,526
REBKIEKEEER From a discontinued operation = 68,169
AE Adjustments for:
FBER Finance costs 7 72,064 73,473
ARt st E 2 BIREE A Equity-settled share option expenses 34 19,415 8,364
A ERF T Share of profit of joint ventures - (180)
WITHBWA Bank interest income 5 (1,401) (928)
HEME - BELEE Gain on disposal of items of property,
JHE 2 W plant and equipment 5 (662) -
W% BERSEITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 86,277 73,245
CRAREECTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 1,320 -
B LS RE 2 ER Recognition of prepaid land lease payments - 1,612
B EEEH Amortisation of intangible assets 17 4,549 8,176
PRI 2 85 Amortisation of mining right 18 400 546
T R Provision of slow moving inventories - 4,056
me REMERRIE Allowance for expected credit loss
BHEEBERE on deposits and other receivables 23 174 -
RWE SERRREE Reversal of allowance for expected credit loss
BEER on trade receivables 22 (1,784) (249)
HERBARNE Gain on disposal of subsidiaries = (69,483)
LEBES BRI 2 LE Operating cash flows before changes in

RERE working capital 443,480 434327
FEE Increase in inventories (44,558) (55,528)
FEWE 5 R EWEE Decrease in trade and bill receivables

B 65,131 31,028
TaNFIE  HEe REMEY  Increase in prepayments, deposits

FIEIE N and other receivables (117,591) (8,113)
RERESRD Decrease in long-term deposits - 39
FEl—E& & ARIFIE Decrease in amount due from a joint venture

B - 697
JERE SBEFUENM, (R )  Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 7,206 (29,833)
Ho A e~ 008 R Ho At FE AT Decrease in other payables and accruals

BRRL (5,504) (3,001)
EmiRE BN Increase in provision for product warranties - 88

MR EEIERBR AR 7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
HE-_ZF—NF+=-A=+—HLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Bt aE Fi#x Fi#&nx
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
REXBMBZRE Cash generated from operations 348,164 369,704
EEINEIR Overseas taxes paid (58,026) (51,099)
REXBE IRERNFRE Net cash flows generated from
operating activities 290,138 318,605
REXBZRERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
F BHA Interest received 1,401 928
BEEPRITERRD Decrease in pledged bank deposits 6,875 7,830
BAYE BMENZMBIEE  Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment 14 (114,891) (204,255)
HEMNRB AT Disposal of subsidiaries 13 - (19.190)
REEB R ML T Net cash flows used in investing activities (106,615) (214,687)
MEXBZRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BiEER Finance costs (20,303) (21,583)
BERRE Dividend paid (32,872) -
fERFT13 5k I8 Proceeds from borrowings 179,164 22,000
EEER Repayment of borrowings (71,169) (77,975)
BREEFRD Decrease in shareholder’s loan (86,924) (61,423)
B — BB ARIFEILEHIAR  Increase in an amount due to
R 2 FIEE N a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary - 389
MEEB RS MEFRE Net cash flows used in financing activities (32,104) (138,592)
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REHLeRERE)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
B e T T#x
Notes HKS'000 HK$'000

BERBRELZEBEE M, NETINCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS 151,419 (34,674)
FzHE&RHEFMEEE  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 131,276 172,854
INEEXRZERE - FH Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (27,882) (6,904)
FRZEERBELEMEEE  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT END OF YEAR 254,813 131,276
RERRSEERBER ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
R RRITHER Cash and bank balances 24 254,813 131,276

BE T 2 Y SE AR AN AR B B IS R 2 M RCER

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT—NF+=-A=+—"HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Rare Earth Technology Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at Suite 1105, 11th Floor, Tower 6, The Gateway, 9
Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the manufacture
and sale of magnesium products.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Ming Xin Development Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the
ultimate holding company is Alpha Sino Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

ML BRTEER/
iafMkSEE ERRAEE FRTEILIRE BARRE
Place of Nominal value of ZER 4t
incorporation/ issued ordinary Percentage of Proportion  FEEH
1 registration sharelregistered equity attributable of voting  Principal
Name and business capital to the Company power held  activities
-8 o}
Direct Indirect
BATMHERRERRAA Eh 1787 - 100 00% REER
Hong Kong New Materials Industry ~ Hong Kong HK$1 Investment
Investment Holding Holding
HERARmARAR e AR%171,800,0007C - 100 100% RERHETBH
il 20 RRER
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium The PRC RMB171,800,000 Manufacture
Products Company Limited and trading
("Xinjiang Tengxiang’) of magnesium
related products
71‘ Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

ML/
AR E R
Place of
incorporation/
1 registration
Name and business
BUTAZ e BREEXARART  BE
Baishan City Tianan The PRC
Magnesium Resources
Company Limited

MERENRERAR AT &R
China Rare Earth Magnesium Hong Kong
Technology Holdings
Limited

BRTEER/
HMRAEE AR EGRE BRRRE
Nominal value of LB 4t
issued ordinary Percentage of Proportion  EEEH
share/registered equity attributable of voting  Principal
capital to the Company power held  activities
ER &
Direct Indirect
A RS RAARE - 100 00% RERHECEE
280,332,000 BEER
Registered and Manufacturing
paid up capital of and trading of
RMB280,332,000 magnesium-
related products
10,310 AT - 100 00% REZR
HK$10,310 Investment
holdings

EREINESARYARE ZAKNEF
EREFEAZESHEXNAEEE
EFECERHN 2 ARANEA
Al BEERR REHMHEB QA
ZFBEREHERBRILE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Group's financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the
HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinances.

They have been prepared under the historical cost basis.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technigue. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1
January 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16),
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e |evel 1T inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e |Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuea)

e |evel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuea)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(i) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs (the “New and Amendments to HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

HKFRS 9 (Amendments)  Prepayment Features with

Negative Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

Except as described below, the application of the New
and Amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases ("HKAS
17"), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS
16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this standard
to contracts that were not previously identified as containing
a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts
which already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January
2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance
with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing
whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessor

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify leases as
either operating or finance leases using similar principles as
in HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 did not have an impact on
leases where the Group is the lessor. The lessor accounting
requirements are brought forward from HKAS 17 substantially
unchanged.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Definition of a lease (continued)

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1
January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the
related lease liabilities adjusted by any prepaid or accrued
lease payments by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any
difference at the date of initial application is recognised in the
opening retained profits and comparative information has not
been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease- by-lease basis, to
the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

(i) elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months of the date of initial application;

(i) excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application;

(iii) applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
a similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying
assets in similar economic environment.

(iv) used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as at
date of initial application in determining the lease term
for the Group's leases with extension and termination
options; and
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BTEERRIRE 2 E 2) 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

EEMBHREEINE6HEE HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

(#%&)

HENER#E) Definition of a lease (continued)

ERABANE) As a lessee (continued)

(v HKERARAESGTELNS (v) relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous
37T IABBERKAE by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
EERREEENEHERDS and Contingent Assets as an alternative of impairment
BEE - review.

MRS D EAKEHENHEED When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously

HEBER  ~5ECEANREXE classified as operating leases, the Group has applied

RBHEESE T EERF incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at

% o the date of initial application.

TR ANE BB REERSE The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption of

16 RE RNEEE Aﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi’%ﬁ’] =7 HKFRS 16 on the Group's consolidated statement of financial

2 BEFAINTEHTENIEE o position: Line items that were not affected by the changes

have not been included.
REFEWE
HEEL
BER SE165KR
—E-N\F —E-NF
+=-A=+—H —HA—H
ZHRNREE e RERE(E
Carrying amount Carrying amounts
previously reported under HKFRS 16
Line items in the as at as at

RiFEBBRRRA consolidated statement of 31 December 2018 Adjustments 1 January 2019

ZRAEBMBEHRE financial position impacted Ti&rn FT&x FTi#gn

ZERISE165RFSEHITEE by the adoption of HKFRS 16 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS

BN RSN Prepaid land lease payment 52,036 (52,036) -

FREEE Right-of-use assets - 53,355 53,355

RBEE CURRENT ASSETS

BN AE TR Prepaid land lease payment 1,319 (1,319) -

82 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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2.2 B BERERMEZ2SE 2) 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)
ERUBHRELENFE 4 REE HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
(#)
HENERE) Definition of a lease (continued)
RZZFE-—NWF—A—BHEERZ The carrying amount of right-of use assets for own use as at 1
FREEEZRAERRENATSEE January 2019 comprises the following
Right-of-use
assets
FHEEE
HK$'000
FET
RERE BT ERELERZE 16 51& Reclassified from prepaid land lease payment
BN tiHEERIBEN DR upon application of HKFRS 16 53,355
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2.3 BEMERREMNHITE
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2.3 NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following New and
Amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
(Amendments)

Definition of Material'

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

Definition of Business*

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sales or Contribution of

(Amendments) Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?®
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

¢ Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on
or after 1 January 2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting”
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
“Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework”
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate the adoption of all
New and Amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in an associate and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of an associate and joint ventures
is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associate or
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
investments in the associate or joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an
associate or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's
investments in an associate or joint ventures.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in an associate and joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon
loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control
over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss
of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 3%
25%

Leasehold land and
buildings

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures 6% to 25%
and equipment

Plant and machinery

Tooling and moulds

Motor vehicles

10% to 25%
25% to 50%
10% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Derecognition of Intangible Assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and evaluation
assets, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses. The mining rights are amortised on
the production quantities over the total estimated mineral
reserve. Mining rights are written off to the profit or loss if the
mining property is abandoned.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in
note 2)

Definition of a lease

Lease is a contract contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 2)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

® the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

® any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

® anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

® an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in
note 2) (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group as a lessee (prior to adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January
2019)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under operating leases net of any incentives received
from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straightline
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments
are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.

Other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI") on the principal
amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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—NE+=A=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2019

2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both
of the following conditions are met:

®  The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

® The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass- through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.



2.6 EXEEERME )

TERIAZEMEE )

%$%EE@%?§EWH@~%
EZRENIELT L BFLH

B p 1%%515%%}2@?%’]“
MERARBHEEE - ﬁﬂ%ﬁi\&ﬁ
EEIREBEEEZANMERR

[0 ¥ % % 88 58 8 B 2 15 A $E
EgRTRELENEEEERR
PEEEE -HXBEAT AEHE
MEREEAE EBENEENKE
B EEREANEE RSB HEN
EEW%—.—J;°

NERFEAKELECDEBNE
B DREERKREERAEER

EREREENSSRELENR
&R -
TREERE

AEBERBREE LM B RE ER
FORARBENTSHEE(RRE
JEME 5 8RN - 1 I H il R UK
8 FEHE B B R R AR
EHEERECENSMEARE
# o AR B MR RBAREER

RENEEED o

%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%hﬁﬁIEME
FFEFEHAAFT A A B ﬁﬁ%L%%#
BEENEHEEBE k2
ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁf%%@mﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ
EEBDREBEHRREHE 12
MHWT CERANENSHERN
oz EEBEERIE - THBRE
$Elﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁtﬂ Rii
REBAFENAEZE  BELEM
A RS R RE BB E R &
*%#ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%o

AEEFENEBEERESNI12EA
TEEEEEIE  RIEBVIRERE
EERBBAELEN  AEEERE
HEHEEERE - FHRTEER
FHITEHEE BB AR B VIR
RUAREE £ L) 2 AT 1 ok R R A
FAEIENN o

2.4

B #E SR R P RE (£B)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables).
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL,
unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

MEREEEZERER AR
2019 BFERE 93



B ISR R RE (48)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE—ZF—NF+=A=+—"HLIFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

2, EREHHRBME2)

9%

tRMEEREZ)
() EERkEZEIZMN

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

REHE B MR R EERR
ERBERNE  AREKR
BEARERMTIAZECERD
R ia iR B e T A
BAEZEORBETHR &
ETRAER > AREEEZE
SERAEBNTEENTEMRE
£ BREEFNEH T BEEK
RS T Al 1§ 2 SR AR B
RTBEIEE RS o

BRIR - EFEEERRET
BEEME S FATE
B

s TRIAMIMB(IAE)K
MEBE AR A B FR TR
HIgEBI

o MG EERRERN
BmERL  WEENEKR
fRIB AN EHANGERE
Hpm HA AR

e WEREEBHEMKAERER
B HAE TR 7 -
B S BRI R B 2
TR E L

BHEERL &

e EHAERE - KHEIEM
RENERIFAHEADT
NEE)  EHEFARET
HEBEENRENKRET

fz o

Annual Report 2019

2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

® an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

® significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

® an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
120 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
Grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;
° Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The Grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each Group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance to the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables and accruals, borrowings, amount due to a
shareholder and convertible bond.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Convertible Bonds

The component parts of compound instruments (convertible
notes) issued by the Company are classified separately
as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument financial
instruments. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company's own equity instruments is
an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar nonconvertible instruments. This amount is recorded
as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective
interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the
instrument’'s maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity
until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share
premium. Where the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date of the convertible bonds, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to retained profits. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are recognised directly
in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability component
and are amortised over the lives of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method.
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NE+=A=+—HILFJZ For the year ended 31 December 2019

2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on
certain products are recognised based on sales volume and
past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted
to their present values as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, an associate and
joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised, except:

® when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

® inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, an associate and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

® the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’'s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of magnesium related
products is recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being at the point the products are delivered to
the customer and the customer has accepted the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified location, the
risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the
customer, and either the customer has accepted the products
in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point in
time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee henefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the "ORSO Scheme”) for
its employees (including certain directors), the assets of
which are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the ORSO Scheme. When an
employee leaves the ORSO Scheme prior to his/her interest in
the Group's employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing
contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the
relevant amount of forfeited contributions.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Share-hased payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (employee compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of number of options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to employee compensation
reserve.

For share options that are vested immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in employee
compensation reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company's functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
joint ventures and an associate are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries and joint ventures which arise throughout the
year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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2.6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(c) An entity is related to the group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(viii)

The entity and the group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the group or an entity
related to the group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which itis a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the group or to the parent of the group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of the person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Estimated impairment of right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and mining rights

The Group evaluates whether right-of-use assets, property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and mining rights
have suffered any impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may not be recoverable, in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2.4. The recoverable amounts of CGUs
represent the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell
or its value-in-use. The calculations of fair value less costs
to sell or value-in- use require the use of estimates. During
the years ended 2019 and 2018, the Group did not provide
any impairment for right-of-use assets, property, plant and
equipment, mining rights and intangible asset.
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NE+=A=+—HILFJZ For the year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and mining rights

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation/amortisation charges for its
right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and mining right. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of right-of-use
assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
mining rights of similar nature and functions and the mineral
reserve determined by independent technical adviser. It
could change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to market conditions.
Management will increase the depreciation/amortisation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, or it will write-off or writedown technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
Group did not change the estimated useful lives of right-of-use
assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
mining rights.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms
of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECL on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note
22 to the financial statements.

Estimated provision for inventories and write-down of inventories to net
realisable value

The management of the Group reviews the inventories listing
on a product-by-product basis at the end of the reporting
period. The management estimates the net realisable value
for such items based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. During the year, the Group has not
provided any for impairment of inventories (2018: Nil).

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
There are certain transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination may be uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported internally to the chief operating decision
makers for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. During the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group discontinue the reportable segments of i)
the personal communication products segment designs,
manufactures and sells a range of communications products;
and ii) the strategic products segment designs, manufactures
and sells ODM products and electronic dictionary products
and provides electronic manufacturing services. In effect, the
Group is principally engaged in one single segment, which is
manufacturing and selling magnesium related products during
the year ended 31 December 2019. A single management
team reports to the chief operating decision makers who
comprehensively manages such entire business segment.
Accordingly, the Group does not have separately reportable
segments.

Geographical information

(a)  Revenue from external customers

i SV —F—\F
2019 2018
Fi#x Fi#x
HK$'000 HK$'000
HEREER Continuing operations
P (FERRIN) Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong) 1,478,854 1,498,667
B Europe 36,437 39,114
1,515,291 1,537,781

FRRABERIEEFRELE
5I]

1 14 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

(b)  Non-current assets

HEI(EBRRIN)

ErWYY -\
2019 2018

Fin Fin
HKS’000 HKS'000

Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong) 1,666,026 1,683,148

LR EEENIREERN
EHZ2 -
FTEFFEHN
RAFENEFRBERAE TP Z

HEAREE BB 10% A 2 I
)\o

The non-current assets information above is based on the
locations of the assets.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer contributed 10% or more of the
Group's revenue during the current year and prior year.

BERHR R EER AR QA
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WA - Eftug AR UES
R

WA~ E A Rk R E DA
mF

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET

An analysis of revenue and other income and gains, net is as
follows:

—g—nF =L V-

2019 2018
T8 T8
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FEREER Continuing operations:
RE-—RFBHER Revenue from contract with customer
REEEFEHZWA recognised at a point in time
HEELBHEEER Sale of magnesium related products 1,515,291 1,537,781
Hahg A R H W =2 F 58 Other income and other gains, net
RITH B LA Bank interest income 1,401 928
fHERER Sales of scrap materials 2,190 1,223
HEWE - MEM&E 2 Wz Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 662 -
HAth (B 5T) Others (Note) 7,899 1,376
12,152 3,527

i BE-_T—-NAF+_A=+—HLFE H
B FEA S A 4) 4,331,000 L (=2 — )\
Fom) o

FIERAGRFEES—FHAT -
MBEHBHRE LT 15 R ER
REMA UERBEOIRERRE
TR HER -

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2019, included in others was rental income
of approximately HK$4,331,000 (2018: Nil).

All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted
by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

—z—ns LIV
2019 2018

Fi Fit
HK$'000 HK$'000

FEREEL Continuing operations:
FRBCE TS Continuing operation:
HEFEMA Cost of inventories sold# 926,306 995,232
M - BELRRBIITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 86,277 69,856
FPREEENE" Depreciation of right-of-use assets* 1,320 -
HEYWE - MEMEZUWEZE  Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (662) -
RIENHEEHE Recognition of prepaid lease payments* - 1,379
PRAE R 5H Amortisation of mining right* 400 546
B Amortisation of intangible assets* 4,549 8,176
1% B AT B < Auditors’ remuneration
— EFH R - Audit Service 1,639 1,639
— IEE AT ARTS - Non-audit Service = -
EERMAZ(BIEESFHH) Employee benefit expense
(including directors’ remuneration)
I8 HaehEYWET Wages and salaries and benefits in kind 93,647 77,533
BEZeRrEIHR Pension scheme contributions 685 698
94,332 78,231
MEH ZHE - JFEE" Foreign exchange differences, net* 441 2,761
e RHEAEBFIA 2 Allowance for expected credit loss
TEHEEEERE on deposits and other receivables* 174 -
UK E ZERFTEBEE Reversal of allowance for expected credit
E BB R loss on trade receivables* (1,784) (249)
# FAGAEEEEMEEBARZIHERK # Included in "Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
7 comprehensive income

A EREREMEERARZIMITES

]

Included in "Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income
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&R 7.  FINANCE COSTS
—E-hEF —E-N\F
2019 2018
T8 FEx
HKS'000 HK$'000
BFEREEK Continuing operations:
ARNAFRNEHIEE ZIRTTX Interest on bank and other borrowings
H b &3 F B wholly repayable within five years 20,528 26,037
AR ESF B Interest on convertible bonds 51,536 47,021
72,064 73,058
=EEie 8. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION
(a) EEH (a) Directors Emoluments

BE_T-NF+_A=1+—

The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31

HIEFEEEEZFHMEH L0 December 2019 are set below:
™
e EEpgE &%
Fees Share options Total
T8 T T8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
HITES Executive directors
LR Shum Sai Chit - 803 803
7 %3}3{* Chi Bi Fen* - 268 268
B Chi Jing Chao - 40 40
EHITES Non-executive directors
i Meng Jian 100 134 234
BREIATHL Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP - 134 134
BUFHTES Independent
non-executive directors
BB IR S Kwong Ping Man 30 134 164
RE AR Cheung Sound Poon 30 134 164
R Kwan Ngai Kit 30 134 164
190 1,781 1,971
REZZ—NFERAZ+RAET * resigned on 26 June 2019
# RZE—NFRAZ+BEZE # appointed on 26 June 2019

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019
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BE-T—\F+-A=+—
BEFESESE 2HMET w0
™~

B #E SR R P RE (£B)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31
December 2018 are set below:

e B &5t
Fees Share options Total
Fi&x Tt Fi&T
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
HITES Executive directors
AR Shum Sai Chit - 847 847
PLE=P2S Chi Bi Fen - 565 565
EHITES Non-executive directors
w2 Meng Jian 100 141 241
BEIKFHL Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP - 141 141
BYFHITES Independent
non-executive directors
BEBIR X Kwong Ping Man 30 141 171
RE AR Cheung Sound Poon 30 141 171
RASR Kwan Ngai Kit 30 141 171
190 2,117 2,307

HE_ZT—NLEE_ZT—N\F
+-—A=+—HILtFE A&
EERASETRNESSN
EAME AFFEEMNMALRE
B MAREE @ HERBER
Mg -

RAFEAR TEEBEFF] (T
MREXRBEREETAHS 2
R (ZF—N\F: &) -

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2018: Nil).

MEREEEZERER AR
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9. hEE=HES 9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
WAAREEZ hHEZR T EE Details of the remuneration for the five highest paid employees
MESFFIBWT - who are not a director of the Company are as follows:

Er Yy -—z-\&

2019 2018
T#Ex Fi#&x
HKS’000 HKS$'000
e EMNEYAGT Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 791 2,309
BREER Share option expenses 11,231 5,361
RRETEIHER Pension scheme contributions 25 155
12,047 7,825
FMENATEHEZ EEE RIET The numbers of non-director and non-chief executive highest
BT EEZASET paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands are as follows:

—2—ns PV

2019 2018

FiEx TR

HK$'000 HK$'000

£ % 1,000,0007T Nil to HK$1,000,000 - 1
1,000,001 BT E HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

2,000,000 7T 1 2
2,000,001 BTLE HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000

3,000,0008 7T 2 -
3,000,000 BTLE HK$3,000,000 to HK$4,000,000

4,000,0008 7T 2 1

5 4

120 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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NiEaBahEMbE2mEARAN
B (GEA) BRSPS 8RR HE

B I ER R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged/(credited)
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represents:

=t St —F—N\F

2019 2018
T8 T8
HKS'000 HK$'000

FEKEER Continuing operations:

BVERFRIE - Current tax:

—BEFEH - Hong Kong Profits Tax - -
— R EEMER — PRC Enterprises Income Tax 59,203 54,900
59,203 54,900
EXERIE (MI5E32) Deferred taxation (Note 32) (5,807) (5,065)
53,396 49,835

R A A A I AR R ) R B K
SYWBRRAMERR, FEER
REB R 2 A H B AR
MBS E 2 RIBX L - U NGE
ABRERBLVAERER)BERB R 2
HERIT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e. the statutory tax
rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

—E-hF —E-N\F
2019 2018
Ti#n T#x
HK$'000 HKS'000 %
FECEER ! Continuing operations:
5 Al 7 Profit before tax 263,128 267,526
BEEMEAE 2 FHIA Tax at the statutory tax rates 55,271 21.0 72,009 26.9
BEMT 2 WA Income not subject to tax (16,437) (6.2) (15,431) (5.8)
AR 2 S Expenses not deductible for tax 14,313 5.4 21,646 8.1
KRR 2 TIEEE Tax losses not recognised 10,631 4.0 - -
BAFAIME CRIEEE  Tax losses utilised from
previous periods (5,905) (2.2) (28,389) (10.6)
ATFRERERE Overprovision in prior year (4,477) (1.7) - -
BEASEERBEGE Tax charge at the Group's
HIAX effective rate 53,396 20.3 49,835 18.6

MR EEIERBR AR
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10. FIB#HEAX 2

11.

122

(a)

ERNEH

R_E—NF=ZA=-_+—H"
EABLEFEBRBB_T—tF
MIEIENERUBE])(B7%)
([ZER])  ZERS|AFE
MRS - ZERRZZFT—N
FZA-+NBEERERE
WHREBAFE - REFESHH
BH EEREEERENBE
2E BB LA E A 8.25% M
o MBE2E BB THNAE
FLBIBEIR165%HF - TR A
FEHMATNERERERE
48 R 1 6.5% 1) Bl TE B R
i o

RNEBEE ERRE MR A
UM ERERMS M EHR
MEAYBREAMEBEINE
Ko BEMES BN M EFEA
B ET RS M 2 16.5%
AE - mRNERBUEELE
ARBEAN MEE—T-NEF
TZA=1T—HIEFEHAX
MEARE(ZZ—N\F : ) -

B ST E

PEEEMESRIEN P EE
EZE-NFR-ZT-N\EF
TZA=+—RIEFEZMHE
JERTBUE 2 25% 5T & -

Iz 2

EEgRAMEE_—_T AT+

A=

TR LEFEIRMNREBE

0.60BII(ZZF—N\F: REKE
0.50 #1L)

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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10.

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(a)

(b)

Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill
2017 (the "Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits
tax rate regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazette on the following day. Under the
two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits tax above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profit tax
rates require as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statement. Hong Kong Profits tax is calculated at 16.5%
of the estimated assessable profit for both years. No tax
is payable for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
Nil) since there was no assessable profit generated in
Hong Kong.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% on
the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC for
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors recommends the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 of HK$0.60
cents (2018: final dividend of HK$0.50 cents).



12. AATEBERESFHBA
BiISZRET

(a)

B2
B ERTBRERUAEERE

FELCEEBRRER KL
BHERERZF SR IIRE
REFECEEBRERIEE
BHARAFI L BIRERE AR
15 € % #/ 209,732,000 7T
—ZF — )\ :285,772,000/%
JC) R ER LB INEF S
6,574,390,058 (=& — )\ F :
6,574,390,058) 51 &

g
B SR

REBFECEEBNERAR
BFBIBEAR R R E B E ST
BAEEFERF 209,732,000
B ooz & — N F:
217,691,000 7)) R F A LB
& AN HE S £5 84 6,574,390,058 A%
(ZZ — )\ : 6574,390,058

BB )5t -

Fh#@ERNERREBME
mELEE LB UARE
BT EBRINEFIYREE -
ARREMBEEEELEL R
B BRENRATRERES(ZF
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B

BREMS  ARERIER
RITEBRIEFM 2 REREE
BELETHE  UEEAEA
AEARRRHIRZ B F 13
TEEE)BANBMNEE - 1
EXFET B BE - &
IR 3R 17150 5 IO HE P 35 1T /O B AD)
2R ELLER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

—E—NF+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

(a)

(b)

Basic

Continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
from continuing and discontinued operations are based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company from continuing and discontinued
operations of HK$209,732,000 (2018: HK$285,772,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
6,574,390,058 (2018: 6,574,390,058) during the year.

Diluted

Continuing operations

The calculation of the basic earnings per share from
continuing operations amount is based on the profit for
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company from continuing operations of HK$209,732,000
(2018:HK$217,691,000) and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 6,574,390,058 (2018:
6,574,390,058) during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. The Company has two categories of
dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options and
convertible bonds (2018: two categories: share options
and convertible bonds).

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired
at fair value (determined as the average market price
of the Company's shares during the period) based on
the monetary value of the subscription rights attached
to outstanding share options. The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options.

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company's share options
because the exercise price of those share options was
higher than the average market price of shares for the
year ended 31 December 2019.
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HEZT—

12. AR EBERERSIFEA
ELEREF =)

124

(b)

S AC )
FFEAEE R ()

RABBRESEMS  HE_Z
—hF+-_A=+—81t#F
B REFEGEXB B8R
BHNEREE WA AGTE
SREERRF -

FFEAE SRR BRI RTF

BE-T-\F+_A=1+—
Eljtif RERLEEB LD
RIEREXBEREN2#E
FEFIIWT

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Diluted (continued)

Continuing operations (continued)

For the convertible bonds, the effect on earnings per
shares from continuing operations were an anti-dilutive
for the year ended 31 December 2019, they were not
included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
from continuing operations.

Continuing and discontinued operations

The dilutive effect on earnings per share from continuing
operations and discontinued operations for the year
ended 31 December 2018 were presented as below:

—E-N\F
2018
RERERIEEETE Continuing and discontinued operations:
RAREER ANES Profit for the year attributable to owners of
FRWmM (FE7T) the Company (HK$'000) 285,772
AR ESF B 2L » [rTi{&  Effect of interest on convertible bonds,
(F#7T) net-off tax (HK$'000) 42,035
TEREERFMSKEHEK  Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings
BRI R ETE 2 BT per share from continuing and
(F#ET) discontinued operations (HK$'000) 327,807
BT E BRI T8 Weighted average number of ordinary
(F8=) shares in issue (thousand shares) 6,574,390
ERARRES 2 F 2 (FRX)  Effect of conversion of convertible bonds
(thousand shares) 1,050,000
BREERAN TR Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
nEFEag (i) diluted earnings per share (thousand shares) 7,624,390
EEERN (BB Diluted earnings per share (HK cents per share) 4.3

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

At the end of June 2018, the board of the Company decided
to disposal the electronic product business due to its weak
profitability. The disposal was completed on 31 July 2018.

The profit for the year from discontinued operations is set out
below. The comparative figures in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and related
notes have been represented as if electronic product business
had been discontinued at the beginning of the year.

EFEREHHNBR
65 s

8=
b A S
+tA=+—H
IEt@EA
Seven
months ended
31 July 2018
Fi#x
HK$'000
Loss from electronic product business for

the period
Gain on disposal

(1,314)
69,483

FAKBERIEEERBET

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 68,169
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13.

126

241k ﬁs%ﬁ%}

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

BRI EEBEEN D TEY Analysis of the results of the discontinued operations are set
N out below:
BZE
—E-N\F
+tA=+4+—H
IE+{EA
Seven
months ended
31 July 2018
T8
HKS'000
WA Revenue 179,652
$HE AR Cost of sales (148,014)
EA Gross profit 31,638
H i s sk B8 558 Other gains or losses, net 9,924
HERDHER Selling and distribution costs (12,119)
THAX Administrative expenses (21,143)
MERFZEFRS Research and development expenses (9,379)
BHEERT R RERE Share of profits and losses of
(MHEE19) joint ventures (Note 19) 180
HHER Finance costs (415)
BRATSHAIE R Loss before income tax (1.314)
PSR S Income tax expenses -
HAEE Loss for the period (1,314)
Hit2EAX Other comprehensive expenses
RERBEEFTPBEEBREL Other comprehensive expenses to be
HMEERAY : reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
BEEBINER ELER Exchange differences on transaction of
foreign operations (3,381)
HR2HEBEX AR Total comprehensive expenses for the period (4,695)
THATEGEBRA(ER),EF (Loss)/profit for the period attributable to:
VA/NEIEZ Y =D Owners of the Company (1,402)
IR A Non-controlling interest 88
(1,314)

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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13. BRILBESXE #) 13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)
HZE
—E2-N\F
+A=+—H
IE+{EA
Seven
months ended
31 July 2018
T8
HK$'000
THATEESHR2ZE(BR),/ Total comprehensive (expenses)/income for
WAEEE the period attributable to:
7N K7%7@_}\ Owners of the Company (5,094)
FEIE R = Non-controlling interest 399
(4,695)
BRER Profit per share:
RECKRIEREEK From discontinued operation
ER R s (Bl Basic and diluted (HK cents) 1.0
KEERIEEFHNHABEBEEEIN Loss for the period from discontinued operation includes the
= following:
HEZE
—E-N\F
+HA=+—H
IE+{EAR
Seven
months ended
31 July 2018
T8
HKS'000
WRENMEERNK Recognition of prepaid lease payment 233
M - BELRRBITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,389
EERTFERAR Cost of inventories sold 177,079
I REF K& Minimum lease payments under operating
ME TxEEERE lease in respect of land and buildings 435
HE —N\FEtLtA=+—HIH During the period ended 31 July 2018, the electronic product
fAl - %%Fuu%%%$ﬁlz‘“%fﬁ business generated HK$13,751,000 to the Group's net
@it 2 F B E 413,751,000 7T - operating cash flow, used HK$1,116,000 in respect of investing
TREEEE A 1,116,000/ 7T M5 activities and used HK$4,413,000 in respect of financing
BOEEENE A 4,413,000 T © activities.

MEREEEZERER AR
2019 BFERE 127



Bt 75 3R 3R B X (4R

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE—ZF—NF+=A=+—"HLIFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

13. BRLEBEEZK 2 13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)
T8
HK$'000
RE: Consideration:
EHRE Cash received 13,183
BEEReNRE Deferred cash consideration 56,000
R{B4EEE Total consideration 69,183
R=F—N\F
+tA=+—H
As 31 July 2018
T8
HKS'000
EHEZEEFHE: Net assets disposed of:
+ b A Land use right 14,225
Y%~ S MR Property, plant and equipment 99,064
REIFR Long term deposits 21
REEBERRIZIKE Investments in joint ventures 6,646
R—EEE AR 2EE Investment in an associate 18
BiRHMEEBARAAE Equity instruments at fair value through
AEZRET A other comprehensive income* 3,000
FE Inventories 49,287
JEWE 5 BRI R R 18 Trade and bills receivables 32,409
AR « e R EMEUERK Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 9,095
B —EEERRERR Amount due from a joint venture 147
IRITTRIRe R Bank and cash balances 32,373
g SRR Trade payables (39,076)
FEET B R R H A FETBR K Accruals and other payables (33,080)
ANIZIES T Income tax payable (118)
BE Borrowings (22,000)
B Provision (1,130)
JERT—RIRR 2R Amount due to a shareholder (115,000)
FEFE AR = Non-controlling interests 7,437
R EREHFEE Release of reserves upon disposal (43,618)
HENB AR 2 W Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 69,483
BRE Total consideration 69,183
HEFEARESMAFEE Net Cashflow arising on disposal:
EHRE Cash received 13,183
B BEHEBRITRIRES G Less: Cash and bank balances disposed (32,373)
(19,190)

BREREBMBRSESEAFEIRE - RE
3,000,000 TR S EEARBEGTERE
IVFETHAHEECREETNIHEER
AFEFAEMBEEKGENRATA -
128 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

Upon initial application of HKFRS 9, an amount of HK3,000,000 was reclassified
from available for sales financial assets under HKAS 39 to equity instrument at
fair value through other comprehensive income.
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4. Y - BERREG 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

HELH A - #E
kT HE EL
Leasehold ERIR WEEE Fumite,  HEREE TARIE RE
land and Construction Leasehold fixtures and Plant and Tooling Motor am
buildings in progress improvements equipment machinery and moulds vehicles Total
Tign TET Tign Tigx Tign Tign Ti#x Tign
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000
B Cost
RZE-N\§—A—AH As at 1 January 2018 580,399 421,691 19,984 80,885 808,774 129,267 10,396 2,051,396
RE Additions 693 197,588 - m 4,594 386 883 204,255
iR Transfer 5221 (102971) - - 97,750 - - -
HE Disposal - - (3) (8) - (5228) - (5,239)
HEBRIHTEER Disposal of discontinued
operation (138,466) - (19,376) (73,644) (84,125) (123,309) (6,052) (644,972)
ERET Exchange realignment (28,165) (25,990) (605) (1,298) (44,968) (1,116) (334) (102476)
WZZ-\E+ZA=+—HKk Asat31 December 2018 and
“2-NF-A-B 1 January 2019 419,682 490318 - 6,046 782,025 - 4,893 1,702,964
AE Additions 2,805 111,237 - 139 148 - 562 114,891
#z Transfer (47,954) (180,761) - 82 228,633 - - -
& Disposal - - - - (9,090) - (163) (9,253)
E R &7 Exchange realignment (7892) (8,826) - (133) (21842) - (114) (38,807)
RZB-AE+ZA=1-8 As at 31 December 2019 366,641 411,968 - 6,134 979,874 - 5178 1,769,795
ZEtE Accumulated depreciation:
RZZ-\F—A—H Asat 1 January 2018 (72,628) - (19,734) (76,020) (158,998) (128,136) (7,460) (662,776)
AEEFRENE Depreciation provided
during the year (22,582) - (202) (905) (47,999) (598) (959) (73,245)
HE Disposal - - 3 8 - 5228 - 5239
HEBRIHTEER Disposal of discontinued
operation 43,618 - 19,328 71,398 83,357 122,393 5814 345,908
5 E5 Exchange realignment 3979 - 605 1,117 8932 1113 191 15937
WZZ—-\FTZA=+—HR Asat31 December 2018 and
“T-N5-A-H 1 January 2019 (47,413) - - (4,402) (114,708) - (2,414) (168,937)
KEEHRIE Depreciation provided
during the year (22,258) - - (241) (62,950) - (828) (86,277)
i Transfer 21,194 - - - (21,194) - - -
e Disposal - - - - 4,739 - 154 4,893
5 &5 Exchange realignment 1,036 - - 99 4313 - 67 5515
W=B-hn%+=H=1+-H  Asat31December 2019 (47,441) - - (4,544) (189,800) - (3,021) (244,806)
HREE Carrying amount:
W=B-A%+=B=+-8  Asat31December 2019 319,200 411,968 - 1,590 790,074 - 2,157 1,524,989
WZE-\E+=ZA=1—H As at 31 December 2018 372,269 490,318 - 1,644 667,317 - 2479 1,534,027
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14.

15.

130

MxE - BERREB 2 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
PI&E - Note:
(i) AEEHEE L RIEFRBERRZERR (i) The carrying amount of the Group's leasehold land and buildings reporting
BT : periods are analysed as follows:
—E2-hEF —2-N\F
2019 2018
T TFET
HK$'000 HK$'000
R B A 2 AR F BRI LD Medium term leases in Mainland China 319,200 372,269
(i) R-ZZE—hE+=-_A=+—8 AEHKERA (ii) As at 31 December 2019, buildings, plant and machinery of the Group with a net
SF{E%)398,587,000 8 L 2 EF « BE K # carrying amount of approximately HK$398,587,000 (2018: HK$130,506,000) were
2(=Z— U 130,506,000 7T ) B K pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).
WERAEEMER 2 RITEEBEE
27) e
AN LB EREE 15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
FEx
HKS'000
A Cost:
R—E—N\F—H—H As at 1 January 2018 89,469
HE Disposal (24,257)
b 5 &5 Exchange realignment (3,327)
MWZZE—NF+-_A=1+—HK Asat31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
—E-hF—H—H 61,885
PERNE BT TEREEBIFE 165 Reclassified to right-of-use assets under
REMOBEREREEE adoption of HKFRS 16 (61,885)

R-ZE-hE+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2019

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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B I ER R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS (continued)

Figx
HKS'000

oty - Accumulated amortisation:
R_ZE—N\F—-—H—H As at 1 January 2018 17,028
P24 S 5 8 Amortisation for the year 1,612
HEBRIEEEER Disposal of discontinued operations (10,032)
b 5 &5 Exchange realignment (78)
MWZZE—NF+=-_A=+—HK Asat31December 2018 and 1 January 2019
—T-NF—HA—H 8,530
R E BT TERELERIZE 1658 Reclassified to right-of-use assets under
BREFDEEGRAEEE adoption of HKFRS 16 (8,530)
R=ZB-AF+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2019 -
BREE : Carrying amount:
R=ZB-hF+=A=+—8H As at 31 December 2019 -
RZZE—-N\F+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018 53,355
—E-N\F
2018
F#n
HKS'000
BN EREB 1D Current portion 1,319
FERNEREL 1 Non-current portion 52,036
53,355

RNZZE—-NFE+_A=+—8 "%
25,259,000 8 T B L & 3K
BRI - DAEENER 7718 FR (B 7
27) c RZE—NE—F—H B
MBEBMBREERFE1651% - B
Nt ERBEZEEREEN B
EFEREEE -

BN LM ERAAFHEOF
B R PEAM -

As at 31 December 2018, prepaid land lease payments of
approximately HK$25,259,000 have been pledged to secure
bank borrowings (note 27). As at 1 January 2019, the carrying
amount of prepaid land lease payments are reclassified to
right-of-use assets under adoption of HKFRS 16.

The prepaid land lease payments are held under medium term
leases and are situated in Mainland China.
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16. EREERE 16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
—E-NEF
2019
FiEx
HK$'000
P—A—BERNEEFEREEDIZE 165 Adoption of HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 53,355
REEFHRITE Depreciation provided during the year (1,320)
b 5 &5 Exchange realignment (1,107)
W+=—A=+—H As at 31 December 50,928
FRABEERRASERHEHAR The right-of-use assets represent the Group's right to use
BHELZHFEREBAEEMERR underlying leased premises and equipment under lease
2 RER o arrangements over the lease terms.
RZE—-—NF+ZA=+—8" & As at 31 December 2019, right-of-use assets of approximately
FHEEEXS50,9280008LE 7& HK$50,928,000 have been pledged to secure banking
AR RITER(FIFE27) © borrowings (note 27).
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17. BILEE 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
R A
Deferred 6| #Et
development cost Patent Total
TET TEx TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R Cost:
RZE-N\F—F—H As at 1 January 2018 41,068 53,842 94,910
HEBRIEREETR Disposal of discontinued operations (41,068) - (41,068)
i 5 &5 Exchange realignment - (2,790) (2,790)
RZZE—\E+-A=+—HK  Asat31 December 2018 and
“T-NF—-A—H 1 January 2019 - 51,052 51,052
&R E7 Exchange alignment - (1,089) (1,089)
R=B-hE+=A=t-H As at 31 December 2019 - 49,963 49,963
Rt Accumulated amortisation:
RZE-\F—F—H As at 1 January 2018 41,068 3379 4 hh7
AEEHHE Amortisation for the year - 8176 8176
HERRIEREETR Disposal of discontinued operations (41,068) - (41,068)
&R &7 Exchange alignment - (533) (533)
RZE-\F+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2018 and
k=E-N%E—A—H 1 January 2019 - 11,022 11,022
AEZHH Amortisation for the year - 4549 4549
&R &5 Exchange alignment - (269) (269)
R=B-hE+=A=1-H As at 31 December 2019 - 15,302 15,302
fREME : Carrying amount;
R-B-AF+=A=+-H As at 31 December 2019 - 34,661 34,661
RZE-N\F+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2018 - 40,030 40,030
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18.

134

PRUERE 18. MINING RIGHTS
n i o
HKS’000

B Cost:
RZE—-N\F—H—H As at 1 January 2018 59,204
bE 5 &5 Exchange realignment (3,068)
RZZE—NF+-A=+—HK Asat31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019

—T-NF—HA—H 56,136
P& 5 &7 Exchange realignment (1,197)
R=ZB-AF+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2019 54,939
E-4 0 £ Accumulated amortisation:
R_E—-N\F—H—H As at 1 January 2018 8,770
PINCIEE: 5is Amortisation for the year 546
b 5 &5 Exchange realignment (478)
—E-N\F+ZA=1+—HK As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019

—E-hF—HA—H 8,838
NG S 5 Amortisation for the year 400
bE 5 &5 Exchange realignment (198)
RZB-AF+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2019 9,040
BREE : Carrying amount:
R=ZB-hF+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2019 45,899
R_E—-N\F+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018 47,298
R HURFEEFRERLTHNB The balance represents mining rights of the dolomite mine
EABHORERE  ABEARENE located in Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which is

BT LAE

amortised by the production quantity over the ore reserve.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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19. REEBERQTIZIRE

19.
AEBZBERGELEER-_T—N
FREE  -NZZ—NF  BHERE
BRAE|ZIE -

FEN —FE & B 1 RISIAERBE R —

B #E SR R P RE (£B)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

The Group's material joint ventures are disposed during 2018.
There are no investments in joint ventures in 2019.

The movements in the provision for impairment of an amount

MEERAZIRERERE e due from a joint venture and an investment in a joint venture
N are as follows:

HZE

—E2-N\F

+=B=+—~

ILFE

Year ended

31 December

2018

T8

HK$'000

REEA]) At the beginning of year 6,680
HEDKRIFEEER Disposal of discontinued operations (6,680)
REFR At the end of year -

REBEIEZEERRIZFHIBAOT

Particulars of the Group's principal joint ventures are as
follows:

Frigat iR A

£ Z#RE

Particulars

of registered

Name capital

ERNEERRBERAR ARE

(TEE3R]) 5,401,550 7

Chongging New Standard RMB5,401,550
Medical Equipment

Co,, Ltd.

FEH 5 BERAR N
15,0007
RMB15,000

—E-N\FRS
2018 Percentage of
13104
SHLY FEEREE 2 RRE AW EERH
Place of
registration ~ Ownership Voting Profit
and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
G - - - REREEET
The PRC BEEM
Manufacture Medical
Equipment and
trading of Co., Ltd
electronic medical
appliances
hE - - - MEIHEETEM
The PRC Online trading of

electronic products

BERHR R EER AR QA
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19. REEBERBIZIRE #)

W A B ATIMIE AR TR
FEA -

TRITAEBE @RI TEERMEEH
BERRZHBEREE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continuea)

The above investments in joint ventures are indirectly held by
the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group's joint ventures that are not
individually material:

—E2-N\F
2018
F#x
HK$'000
FARGEERR R Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the year 180
AEERIEEERAIZA Share of the joint ventures' total
ONL- comprehensive income for the year 209
B S Dividend received (6,119)
FEEREGERAIREZ Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
FREAE investments in the joint ventures -
200 R—EBEQTZRE 20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
—HEERARER T —/\FEH An associate is disposed during 2018. There are no
B oRIZIZE—NF - #$ER—HE investments in an associate in 2019.
EREIZIRE °
iR/l =2 =y (1 N Particulars of the associate are as follows:
REEES
FrE Rz
Frisaifi Kk RFRRE
1 IRz #1E S 2 zBEok IEEHR
Percentage of
ownership
interest and
Particulars Place of voting power
of registered registration attributable
Name capital held and business to the Group  Principal activities
—E-N\F
2018
BMNPEETFREARLA AR ¥ 3,000,0007T i - EEXE
RMB3,000,000 The PRC Dormant
136 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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20. FA— g

21.

BRRIZIRE#) 20.
THRIRAEETBE AN D R

B I ER R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The following table illustrates the financial information of the

NE)ZHEERRE Group's associate that is not material:
—g2-N\F
2018
T8
HKS'000
REZEIHEEE QTR A Share of the associate's profit for the year -
KFEERGEEAREAE Share of the associate’s total comprehensive
Nt Income for the year -
HE BRI FE T Disposal of discontinued operations (18)
KEBR—E#E QT Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
"EZRABE investment in an associate -
78 21. INVENTORIES
= Ly —E—N\F
2019 2018
TFEx T8
HKS'000 HKS'000
JRM#E Raw materials 125,107 104,022
E%ﬁ: Work in progress 1,247 -
RIFK oh Finished goods 60,453 42,397
186,807 146,419
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22. BIRE S RRRERTRR

138

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

= Ly —E—N\fF

2019 2018

T8 T8

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEWE 5B (MIFEG) Trade receivables (note (i) 149,011 214,717
AR EEEEERE Allowance for expected credit loss (1,726) (3,544)
147,285 211,173

e R 4 (B &E (i) Bills receivables (note (i) 4,186 6,807
151,471 217,980

B 7E Note:

(i) AEEREEFPZ2ESFTZURERAHE (i) The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The credit
17 BRIHE— M TEBBI1s0K - BRARFPE period is generally not over 180 days. Each customer has a maximum credit
ERERIHEE o REBEBRKBREESRE limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
EBFIEL HRERBEERE - aRE and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
BETHEZORE - 0 LAt - i management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade
ZEEEEWEIRT I RBZDHZE receivables related to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
B MITESANEESTRK - AEEIL significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
mIREEWE SRR AR ERERRK other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
HinEERARE - BRE SRR TF are interest-free.

8 .

(i) R-ZE—hAE+-_A=+—8  BEREEY (i) As at 31 December 2019, bills receivable of approximately HK$4,186,000 (2018:
4,186,000/ 7L(= T — J\ £ : 6,807,0005 HK$6,807,000) will be matured within seven months (2018: eleven months) after
TTOBRHRERERELBEARA(ZZT—N\F: the end of the reporting period. All the bills receivables are dominated in RMB.
T—EA)REEH - FTAERKEBRIAAR
HeETE -

RRERIEEEH RS DR An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of

E9RANGIKRFEREEHBEE) the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of

ZHREE DT TR FTR ¢ allowance for expected credit loss, is as follows:

= Lk —F—\F
2019 2018

T8 T
HKS'000 HKS'000

PR 60K Within 60 days 113,550 130,699

61 290K 61 to 90 days 33,735 37,550

FBiB 90K Over 90 days - 42,924

147,285 211,173

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

EWE RN EEBEREB The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
W trade receivables are as follows:
= Ly —E—N\F
2019 2018
T8 T8
HKS'000 HKS'000
REA At the beginning of year 3,544 17,483
RINE BB R E £ Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9
FIReTE - 3,968
FH(KET) At the beginning of year (restated) 3,544 21,451
BHEEEERERD Allowance for expected credit loss reversed (1,784) (249)
HEBRIFCEER Disposal of discontinued operations - (17,453)
PEH A% Exchange difference (34) (205)
RER At the end of year 1,726 3,544

NE&WE HHRA R EREETR
BEoH AFEBRMEEER - &
wRIERRAGBUEEREN (AR
wEEE - EREAL XPEIK
AR AREREBEXHMITANIE
AR ERBE)NZEEF D
HEMBHRBEE - ZitERB
AR NMEER - EERERNEK
SHHASARBESM - BAR
N BRI R RAE BRI B B8
BF e —RME - W85 EWR
BHEE—F R EERREIRNT
=18 BlgMs - FHEEEEN
BN HI R 44 -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns
(i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not
subject to enforcement activity. Details of assessment of
expected credit loss was detailed in Note 44.
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22. BREZRMR
BWRE (&

BE-®-AF+=A=+-
AL BB B R 4R 5 2
% 9E TR fE

REBREREITAEEE SRR
FRENEERBREMIT

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 December 2019

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

FREAES IR R
Expected

loss rate

IREAAE
Gross carrying
amount
FEx
HK$'000

BiRRE
Loss
allowance
T8
HK$'000

R-ZZE—h#&E 31 December 2019
+=—HA=+—8
BIER(R#EHE) Current (not past due) 1.038% 148,830 1,545
BHD A F Less than 1 year past due 100% 181 181
149,011 1,726
JEHIE R REAE EERE
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T T8
HKS'000 HKS'000
R-ZE—NF 31 December 2018
+—-A=+—8H
BVER (R E) Current (not past due) 0.064% 211,308 135
B DR F Less than 1 year past due 100% 3,409 3,409
214,717 3,544

140

oK 380 5 7% 4 00 (8 2 e W R TR B I
AT AL S R SR ERH A D B

2 780 HA B 4R (B 2 I8 WA TR B 1A X
SEZECERINBIEFS - R
BBERE ARREERR B

RNEELGRWEBANE  WAR
merihal 280 - BEAR L E
KRR E R o

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
a large number of diversified customers for whom there was
no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

ST —=— s

2019 2018

T8 FEn

HKS'000 HKS$'000

TEAS FE (B (i) Prepayments (note (ii)) 281,150 112,639
we Deposits 292 265
A e W R IE (BEE () Other receivables (note (i) 6,607 64,197
288,049 177,101

AR EEEERE Allowance for expected credit loss (170) -
287,879 177,101

ZeMEARINE - BREES
BB EYGRIARR

M EE -

(i) R-ZZE—N\FE+-A=+—08  EMEKK
BEREFTZABRIIEEEBNAEESS
#756,000,000/ 87 - HHERBE=T—N
E+ZB=+—HILFEES-

(i) WH-T-—AE+=-RB=+—H BEFRZKEE
EREFEZTEMNRIEL 198,990,000 % 7T
(== —/\£ :108,825,000/8T) °

BMFIE - e R EAMEERIAZ
BEHEEEEREZEHNT

None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. The
allowance for expected credit loss relates to deposits and
other receivables.

notes:

(i) At 31 December 2018, the balance of other receivables mainly represent
the outstanding balance of disposal of discontinued operations of amount
approximately HK$56,000,000. The balance has been settled during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

(ii) As at 31 December 2019, prepayments mainly comprise of prepayment of
inventory of approximately HK$198,990,000 (2018: HK$108,825,000).

The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as follows:

it 2L N —F—)\F

2019 2018

T8 T8

HK$'000 HK$'000

REY) At the beginning of year - 22,072
RNEBMBRELRFE IR ZFE  Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 - -
FH(EES) At the beginning of year (restated) - 22,072
EHEEBERE Allowance for expected credit loss 174 -
T 4R | AR B 2R Disposal of discontinued operations = (22,072)
P N E%R Exchange difference (4) -
RER At the end of year 170 -
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% RERAEFEEER

142

24, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

SIEHRITER
= Ly —ZE—)\fF
2019 2018
Fi&x FE&T
HK$'000 HK$'000
B® MIRTTH Cash and bank balances 254,813 131,276
EEBRITER Pledged bank deposits 16,877 24,732
271,690 156,008
B ERZEAER Less: Pledged deposits for
(BisE27) borrowings (note 27) (16,877) (24,732)
ReERBEFEEER Cash and cash equivalents 254,813 131,276
EEBRITER - Pledged bank deposits:
mENER1D Current portion 7,328 14,975
IERBNE D Non-current portion 9,549 9,757
16,877 24,732

R|EHER REEBAARBEE
ZHRERRESEEEE A LD KT
RITFERA A161,510,000/8 70(=
T — )\ : 150,209,000/ 7T) © A
RETSEBRABRAEMER A
o AR BB AN I B R A B K 4
B - EEMNETERTE  A5H
EEEBERERNNREELEBD
RITHARE S B AHMER -

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and pledged bank deposits of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$161,510,000 (2018: HK$150,209,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange

RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.
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RERREEEHEBR 24, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
SRR ITER (=) (continued)

RITHRE DRERITEBRITHEN Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
IR 2 FE R EFIMFE - /TR bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
SENRRSFR  BHEHFXK three months depending on the immediate cash requirements
ZHRAE=M@A - jﬁizx 5 Zﬂﬁﬂ of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term
T HAF SR BRER A B TER time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
MEBERFE ﬁﬁﬁ(ﬁ’\\ﬂﬂﬁﬂ;ﬁﬁ B&Z are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
BB RN FRACER AV ERTT o of default.

—E-NAF+ZA=+—H"'B As at 31 December 2019, pledged bank deposit of
%ﬁﬁ#ﬁfﬁ TR 4916,877,00087T(= approximately HK$16,877,000 (2018: HK$24,732,000) was
T — )\ : 24,732,000 70 ) 2 K 37 pledged to bank for secured of borrowings (Note 27).

THRIT - AEEER(IEE27) o
BN E SR 25. TRADE PAYABLES
RRERRIZEZHHE DN ER An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
=) ZHEE’%QWZZDTW/T\ : reporting period, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:
= Lok —F-N\F
2019 2018
T8 FEn
HKS'000 HKS'000
DR 60K Within 60 days 29,319 30,667
61 290K 61 to 90 days 696 2122
i@ 90K Over 90 days 17,978 9,060
47,993 41,849
ERNEZERTAE - SE A The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally

%*Z%,T\ﬁz&mo?i °

settled within 180-day terms.

MR EEIERBR AR
2019 BFERE 143



o %5 R <R Y RE (48)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE—ZF—NF+=A=+—"HLIFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

26. HAtnEAREREHERR

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

AHNEaE
t- 2oy k-l —F—\F
2019 2018
FET Fi8xT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEETE A (B ) Accruals (note (i) 9,501 13,889
E b A~ RIE (I FE (i) Other payables (note (ii)) 15,710 34,681
25,211 48,570
B 4B E (B Gil) K (iv) Contract liabilities (note (iii) and (iv)) 19,742 7,799

EEtERA R EMENREALSRER
IR BRIERE -

M

(i) RZZ—-hE+-A=+—B  EiExX
TEAEFFESRE TEFL61300005
JL(=ZF — J\HF © 4,654,000/ 7T ) K& & &
BEBAMN6390008T(ZT—N\F:
1,389,000 7T) °

(i) RZT-—AF+ZA=1+—8 HE#HEMLK
BEXZREBRERGEN S TEHS,246,000
BT (ZF— \F 1 7,272,000/87T) RERE
TRAENEFL1,973,0008 L (=ZF— N\
£ 1 15,234,00087T) °

(i) HEHEHEEEEQRNEFPEIANE  A%E
WERETHBINEHNEHE »EEZSHE
HRXGERRVIFHERIRERRENE
& AFEERRNENABERBEROBELD
747,799,000 7 (ZZF— //\FF : 10,745,000
BIL) c AEERBEMNKETELTBIE
BARRERD - T E AT R A AR IE
FEARAEEREREMITY - RELTE
WIS ERBENTEMAE -

1lill Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

Accruals and other payables are interest-free and repayable
on demand.

note:

(i) As at 31 December 2019, the accrual expenses mainly represent accrual salary
and staff benefit of approximately HK$6,130,000 (2018: HK$4,654,000) and
accrued professional fee of approximately HK$1,639,000 (2018: HK$1,389,000).

(ii) As at 31 December 2019, the other payable was mainly represents outstanding

amount of repair and maintenance of approximately HK$8,246,000 (2018:
HK$7,272,000) and construction-in-progress of approximately HK$1,973,000
(2018: HK$15,234,000).

(iii) The Group receives certain portion of contract amounts when signing the
contracts with customers on sale of magnesium products. The transaction price
allocated to these sales is recognised as a contract liability at the time of initial
sales transaction. Revenue recognised in the current year that was included in the
contract liability balance was approximately HK$7,799,000 (2018: HK$10,745,000).
The Group considers the advance payments schemes does not contain significant
financing component and accordingly the amount of consideration is not adjusted
for the effects of the time value of money taking into consideration that the
payment terms were not structured primarily for the provision of finance to the
Group.
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26, HiWEMNFIERETERR 26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A - .
S8 E&Ew) (continued)
(iv) EHaBEZEFHNT (i) The movements of contract liabilities are as follows:
—Z-hfF —E-N\F
2019 2018
FTHERT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
R—A—BZ#&8#% Balance at 1 January 7,799 10,745
BREANBRABEZALEEMD (MIFE) Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising
revenue during the year (note) (1,223,590) (117,317)
FARBIZRSER 2 EHNEELN Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving deposits
during the year 1,235,991 128,375
& 5 E5 Exchange realignment (458) (14,004)
RtZA=+—B2#&% Balance at 31 December 19,742 7,799
fisE : MRBREFRNRAEBZANEERD R note: Included in decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising

BLEYME BERRHEZRED revenue during the year was of approximately HK$5,022,000 representing
5,022,000 7T © the consideration of disposal of property, plant and equipment.
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27.

146

LN 27. BORROWINGS
= Ly —F—N\fF
2019 2018
T T8
HKS’000 HKS'000
IRITER Bank borrowings 151,508 110,500
E A8 SR (B (i) R (i) Other borrowings (note (i) and (iii)) 335,934 266,127
487,442 376,627
B Borrowings:
—FRRILEKEERE Within one year or on demand 315,765 65,706
—FUAEETBBARTE More than one year but not
exceeding five years 171,677 310,921
487,442 376,627
B RBBEMTERE Less: Amounts shown under
current liabilities (315,765) (65,706)
ERBEEM TSR Amounts shown under non-current
liabilities 171,677 310,921
B Borrowings:
B HEE () R (i) Secured (note (i) and (iii) 275,550 216,480
it Unsecured 211,892 160,147
487,442 376,627
BRATIEEHE Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:
= Ly —E—N\F
2019 2018
T F#En
HKS'000 HK$'000
AR RMB 118,636 110,500
T HKS 145,855 -
ETT Us$ 222,951 266,127
487,442 376,627

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019



27. B (#

i

(i)

(iii)

(ii)

(iv)

3 18 38 49212,089,00058 T(= T — N\
£ 110,500,000 T ) H—RARWE A
RIMARERUREFRODE  BE R
B #9398,587,000/8 T RIEFREEEN
50,928,000 L(ZZE—\F : WE - KE
22 549130,506,000 7% 7T A R FE A - # A
EFRIAHXY 25,259,000 B T ) FEREIR ©

EthERERE@QBERESRARNERLD
63,461,000/ 70(=F — J\F : 105,980,000
) K (b) & F #272,473,0008 (=T
—/\& :160,147,000/87T) °

BEAAR—RE2ENBRAREBERSEA
AI(BIRERAR D MERGE - BEE S
AR MZMH B AR 27,000,000 T E

BRI FRI S 30wt
EIHe B R G HATR 3 BER B
%ﬁﬁe

B &R AR E R A63,461,0008 7T
(= Z — U 1 105,980,000/ 7T ) * ()
B RIRENARER R EERE
Alpha Sino International Limited ([Alpha

Sino ) ¥ B 2t 42 F5 K B 0 & 48 ¢ (i) iR
T3 #16,877,0008 T(Z T — )\ & :
24,732,000 78 7T ) fEHE A o

—NFE+ZA=+—8 RITERR
Eﬁﬂ{amaﬁﬂuﬁéaﬁf%iﬂf,m%ma%(_?
— N\ 6.18%) °

Bt 85 SR R B BE (4R)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

—NEFE+=A=+—HILFJZ For the year ended 31 December 2019

27. BORROWINGS (continuea)

Note:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Secured borrowing of approximately HK$212,089,000 (2018: HK$110,500,000)
were guaranteed by the corporate guarantee of a fellow subsidiary and pledged
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$398,587,000 and right-of-use
assets of approximately HK$50,928,000 (2018: property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$130,506,000 and prepaid land lease payment of approximately
HK$25,259,000).

Included in other borrowings was (a) IFC loan of approximately HK$63,461,000
(2018: HK$105,980,000) and (b) bond of approximately HK$272,473,000 (2018:
HK$160,147,000).

Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by a wholly- owned subsidiary of the
Company and International Finance Corporation (“IFC"), IFC had granted a loan
facility of US$27,000,000 to the subsidiary.

The loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 3.5% per annum and the amounts due are
based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreement.

The loan from IFC of approximately HK$63,461,000 (2018: HK$105,980,000) was
secured by (i) corporate guarantee given by Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited; and (i) pledged of shares in Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
as owned by Alpha Sino International Limited ("Alpha Sino”), the substantial
shareholder; (iii) deposit with banks of approximately HK$16,877,000 (2018:
HK$24,732,000).

The weighted effective interest rate of bank borrowing and other borrowing as at
31 December 2019 is approximately 7.33% (2018: 6.18%).

BEMZEEZEERA
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28.

29.

30.

148

e

28. PROVISION

—g2-N\F

2018

T8

HK$'000

»—A—H As at 1 January 1,042
BB M Additional provision 88
HEDKRIEKEER Disposal of discontinued operations (1,130)
R+=—A=+—H As at 31 December -

AEERBOHEFERATIER
MEE=FRE KRBEERET
MEXE®R - REZBEERIIR
HERBEMNEEMREBRAE
EfhET - ZAFTEERBEETR
& WIEEEER

B —BRRZKE

ENBRRZFBERERR - 28N
BER12EARNEE -

EFEUTA

The Group provides two to three years warranties to its
customers on certain of its electronic products, under which
faulty products are repaired or replaced. The amount of
provision for the warranties is estimated based on sales
volumes and past experience of the level of repairs and
returns. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis
and revised where appropriate.

AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

The amount due to a shareholder is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and is not repayable within 12 months.

30. DEFERRED REVENUE

= Lok —F-N\F
2019 2018
TEx Fi&x
HKS'000 HKS'000
B B MR 2 BT R Government grants received
related to assets 68,283 69,772

RITETBEEZER  AIUMR
LeBEBREERAPANR _FT——
FEEMBTRI L — D HE - RIE
&t EMBUFRE RS LT X
REBBEBEXBRAFEHRMBEE
B(TEBY ) ABhE B EER & MR
=2YE - BEMEEOERE

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019

In order to encourage the development of magnesium industry,
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co., Limited
entered into an agreement with the local government in 2012.
Pursuant to the agreement, the local government agree to
provide financial assistance (the “Assistance”) to Baishan City
Tianan Magnesium Resources Company Limited to improve
their production technology and enhance the capacity of the
property, plant and equipment.



30. IRZEUR A ()

31.

HE_Z-NEFER-_ZE—N\F+=
A=Z+—BULtFE AEETERK
REMER MBE_ZE—ILEK
—E-N\F+ZA=F+—HLEFE
WERER T A EAMUA

P U s Ak 7 FE WK IR 2 B B > #ta
FERRIE YA B EL 1R LAFUR ST &
ERX  MRATHEEEARSE
HI B 2 T HERR o

AR fESF

RZE—tF+—HA=1H" E&
WEXFEEREN—3 0D AA
AIREEEREARARIESR
2% ]) » Sure Sino Global Limited
(I'Sure Sinol) ~ 42 F5 ¢ & B 4%
BERRBMEARABFYUZEE
WE: BITEREFi%st B A
B¥FHABIN XERES
420,000,000 87T 2 AT RRRIES ©

30.

31.

B #E SR R P RE (£B)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

DEFERRED REVENUE (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group
has not received any Assistance and there were no other
income was recognised for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables is
initially recognised as deferred revenue and subsequently
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset
by way of as a reduced depreciation charge expense.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 30 November 2017, as part of consideration for the
acquisition of the Fullocean Group, the Company has issued
convertible bonds which bear an interest of 4% per annum
payable in arrear semi-annually with aggregate principal
amount of HK$420,000,000 pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement entered into by Capital Idea Investments Limited
("CIIL"), Sure Sino Global Limited (“Sure Sino”), Century
Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and the Company.

MEREEEZERER AR
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31.

AR ESE 7

REAREZSTBER - Al 2RE
FREBEANTHAT  UkEeBA
ENERTARAZ EREMEMNDER
THMAENED - WREERSER
NEEeRREed s —BYHEE
BHREEHR 2 ARBAGERT
HE®E AIREaIE - AEHS
ZRAFERABUTAILBTA Y
BTSN RETHEG - AJRRE
5 2 N ARG R B F X A AR
#ETT o fE o AP 00 PO A] R AR AE 5
miwE ] — B ESED - BES
MRNIEERARNERNESEF
14.6% °

AMRESE FESFFAEARR
BB 0408 TR AR - B
BITHRF  ATBRESFBERBE
—F o EMA AR MR EST A
ZHIBERFEIT c A XA REIE A
BRmAEER 2 BRES -

RZE—hAhF+_A=+—8" 1
WM ES 7 AN F1EA A 381,798,000
Boo(ZZF — )\ :351,931,000/%8
JC) °

AR EFGERNFAERT2H
AHA-_ZT—+F+A-+HZ
LK o

AR A WA R MR Al R (&
FRERBIFTENT

3.

CONVERTIBLE BOND (continuea)

According to the Group's accounting policy, the convertible
bonds are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company's own equity
instruments is an equity instrument. The fair value of the
liability component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. The fair
value assessment of the convertible bonds was performed
by an independent professional valuer. The equity element is
presented in equity under the heading of “convertible bond
equity reserve”. The effective interest rate of the liability
element on initial recognition is 14.6% per annum.

The convertible bonds entitle the bondholder to convert to
shares at a conversion price of HK$0.40. The maturity date
of the Convertible Bonds is the 3 year from the date of issue.
Conversion may occur at any time before maturity date of the
Convertible Bonds. The Company will redeem the convertible
bonds if the bonds have not been converted on maturity date.

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds is approximately
HK$381,798,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$351,931,000).

For more details of the terms of convertible bonds, please
refer to the circular dated on 26 October 2017.

The liability component of convertible bond recognised in the
statement of consolidated financial position was calculated as
follow:

Figx
HKS'000

R_E—NF—HA—H As at 1 January 2018 318,684
FABRN SR Effective interest expenses charged 47,021
BN RERFEREZ Interest expenses paid and payable (15,369)
RZZE—-NF+_A=+—HK As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019

—E-NF—HA—H 350,336
FAERFERX Effective interest expenses charged 51,5636
BN RERFEREZ Interest expenses paid and payable (16,800)
R-ZZB-hF+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2019 385,072

150 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

DEFERRED TAXATION

The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year as follows:

EEHERRE Deferred Tax Liabilities
i
*HE/TA
Gl YL Prepaid fF FHIESE
Convertible land lease  Right-of-use st
Bond payment assets Total
T T#&xT T#Ex Ti#&x
HKS’000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
R-ZZT—\F—H—HB Asat1 January 2018 16,717 3,255 - 19,972
FTAfRE R R EAMm Credited to consolidated statement
FEBARK of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (4,986) (79) - (5,065)
&R E5 Exchange realignment - (165) - (165)
R-ZZB—N\F As at 31 December 2018 and
+-—A=+—8k 1 January 2019
—E—-NF—HA—H 11,731 3,011 - 14,742
BB B 15 & %8l Transfer upon adoption of HKFRS 16
&1 65)?%%& - (3,011) 3,011 -
u+)\:vT B Credited to consolidated statement
/\{1@1@4&7\2@ of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (5,731) - (76) (5,807)
W &5 Exchange realignment - - (63) (63)
R-ZZB-NF As at 31 December 2019
+=A=+—H 6,000 - 2,872 8,872

A BN BB BRB R )T

/7

HAREBEAELENHBEERY
#1.820,00008 T(=Z & — )\ &

7,725,000 70 ) » I A] f £ R 2R 3K
HEEBBEBEEN AR RKER
Baf o REBEIMRABEAMES
WE(ZCTE—-N\F: E)BEEE-
WAIRAR—ERFRNEBERKE
%%%‘R’%T&%IJ I&tﬁﬁ% ﬂaﬁiﬂé—

ﬁ%%ﬁmg ST B B
B M EEETE  LEER
EIERIREE -

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong before Inland
Revenue Department (IRD") assessment of approximately
HK$1,820,000 (2018: HK$7,725,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has no
tax losses arising in Mainland China (2018: Nil) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised by these subsidiaries.

BERHR R EER AR QA
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32.

152

EIERIE )

EEHEEEZ)

BEFBECEMGRE  RPBER
K ZINETERIINHIGEES
RZ BB BHIWI0% 2 EHEF - =
ERTEHA_ZEZNF—A—HE
A WERAR _EE+F+ A
Z+—BIZEELEZE - MPEH
Wi EINH G EE B RIZE &R
ZERI BB HZE A RSRES
BRMEH - AEEmMS - @A
HERS% - Bt NREEAFRF
BAKZ B RARTR_ZEZEN
F—A—BUEBEEZ&NFDIK
2% B AN ET R o

RZFB-AF+-_A=+—H XK
SEYE PP E R B
NA - BEARREE QB REKRE
th 2 A A A 2 RN AR R
REMELEHRRE - EFRR - WF
fBAR - BENR MEERAE
A BRRA KA BE D IR It & & F) o
REREHR - B AR B A
BRAR - ERAMBERAZR
B UARABEAERERZH(-T
—\F ) o

2R A ) E P 3RS B R 48 R
BFIETER -
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32.

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Deferred Tax Liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group
is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2019, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding dividend taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding dividend
taxes of the Group's subsidiaries, associate, and joint ventures
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors,
it is not probable that these subsidiaries, associate and joint
ventures will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. There was no significant temporary difference
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associate in Mainland China at the end of the reporting period
(2018: Nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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SHARE CAPITAL
—E-NEF —E2-N\F
2019 2018
FTi&rx Ti&x
HK$'000 HK$'000
EE Authorised:
13,000,000,000(=Z—/\&F :  13,000,000,000 (2018: 10,000,000,000)
10,000,000,000) P& &% ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
EE0.10B T2 @k 1,300,000 1,000,000
ERITRABRE Issued and fully paid:
6,574,390,058 (ZZT— N\F : 6,574,390,058 (2018: 6,574,390,058)
6,574,390,058) iR &% ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
E{E 010872 @K 657,439 657,439

REBEZ2-_ZE—NFE_ZE—NF
+-A=+—HIFER > KRQA
EBRTERARBEZE - BEAR
AHEBAE-ZT—hF~NA=-+,H

There were no movements in the Company's issued ordinary
shares during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.
The authorised share capital of the Company was increased
to HK$1,300,000,000 divided into 13,000,000,000 Shares

REREBEBORER  ARADE pursuant to the resolutions passed in the general meeting of
FERR AN E 1 A0 % 1,300,000,000 7% 7T Company dated 26 June 2019.

(% /13,000,000,000 A%XA%1D) °

RAREBEITRA 2 EBR T A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share

capital is as follows:

R-E-\$-A—-H"

“E-N\F
T-A=+-H-
“Z-NE—-F-BK
“E-NE+-A=1+—H

BRT R EE
RO#E A &R it
Number Share
of shares Share premium
inissue capital account Total
TExT Tl T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
As at 1 January 2018,
31 December 2018, 1 January
2019 and 31 December 2019
6,574,390,058 657,439 1,560,077 2,217,516
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N EREAEREMBESEHER
T HH(BEEZB) ILEA+ @A
HIMA it AL B EREBER
2 EEBE(BIEETHE - B
&rﬁﬂiﬁ@mﬁ%ﬂxf*)ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ
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34.

—NE+=A=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SHARE OPTIONS

On 4 December 2017, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company. Under
the Scheme, the Company may grant options to the directors
or employees of the Group and any substantial shareholder,
consultant or adviser, distributor, contractor, supplier, service
provider, agent, customer and business partner of the Group
(the "Eligible Participant’) to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

Options may be granted on such terms and conditions in
relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise as the directors
may determine in its absolute discretion, provided that such
terms and conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other
term conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares on Main Boards stated in the Stock
Exchange’'s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the
option; (ii) the average prices of the shares on Main Board as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle
the options in cash.

The share options are exercisable only if the Eligible
Participants remain in the service of the Group or substantial
shareholder from the grant date of the share options up to the
designated exercise date.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each eligible person in
the twelve-month period expiring on the offer date must
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Group.
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Group, or any
of their respective associates, would result in the securities
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the twelve-
month period up to and including the date of such grant (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
securities in issue; and (i) (where the securities are listed on
the Stock Exchange), having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the securities at the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must be
approved by shareholders of the Group.
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3. BIRE#) 34.  SHARE OPTIONS (continved)
BE_E-NF+=ZA=1+— For the year ended 31 December 2019
HLEFE
20196 R2019%
1818 ERRHE  FROE ERE# FRXR 12A31H 158
BE ZBRE cBRE BRE ERE FREZ &R (I%T%)_
Jo
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled apsed Transfer Held at Exercise
1 January during the during during during during 31 December price
2019 year the year the year the year the year 2019 (note)
HKS
n &8
Employees 146,600,000 - - - - 17,000,000 163,400,000 04
40,000,000 - - - - 40,000,000 05
- 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - - 150,000,000 03
B EZ
Directors
it 30,000,000 - - - - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
HER 20,000,000 - - - - (20,000,000) - 0.4
Chi Bi Fen*
L i - - - - - 3000000 3000000 04
Chi Jing Chao*
Ees 5,000,000 - - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Meng Jian
BEFAHL 5,000,000 - - - - - 5000,000 04
Tam Wai Ho, Samson J P
B 5,000,000 - - - - - 5000,000 04
Kwong Ping Man
RER 5,000,000 - - - - - 5000000 04
Cheung Sound Poon
PR 5,000,000 - - - - - 5000,000 04
Kwan Ngai Kit
221,400,000 - - - - - 221,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - - - 40,000,000 05
- 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - - 150,000,000 03
261,400,000 200,000,000 - (50,000,000) - - 411,400,000 -
RZE—NFANAZTBEE * resigned on 26 June 2019
i RZE-NFRAZ+EBEZT # appointed on 27 June 2019

BEMZEEZEERAR
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3. BIRE ) 34, SHARE OPTIONS (contined)
ETE-NEFE+ZA=+-— For the year ended 31 December 2018
HLEFE
. PA20185F .
ROBE  EAEH  FRTE  FRKR 2ANE TEE
1A1BKE ZEBRE Z2BRE Z2BikE B8 (BtaE)
i P
Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised lapsed Held at Exercise
1 January during the during during 31 December price
2018 year the year the year 2018 (note)
HKS
A ES
Employees - 146,400,000 - - 146,400,000 0.4
- 40,000,000 - - 40,000,000 0.5
(B) E=
Directors
e - 30,000,000 - ~ 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
NUEESEN - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.4
Chi Bi Fen
o c - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Meng Jian
BEFATHL - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Tam Wai Ho, Samson J P
BBR - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
REAR - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Poon
B - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwan Ngai Kit
- 221,400,000 - - 221,400,000 0.4
- 40,000,000 - - 40,000,000 0.5
- 261,400,000 - - 261,400,000
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B I ER R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Options outstanding at 31 December 2019 have the following
expiry date, exercise period and exercise prices.

MHERAH [& i B 48 fTiEHs BRITEE BREHNE
Exercise
prices per Number of
Grant date Expiry date Exercise period Share Options
BT
HK$
—Z-/\fmHA=TAhA T+ ZAZTAR BZE-/\GT-H-HEZE 0.4 221,400,000
—E=F+ZAZTANR
25 April 2018 29 December 2023 From 1 November 2018 to
29 December 2023
—“Z-)\&MA=+AA “TTF+A=+—H BZET-NF-A—HEE 05 40,000,000
—EEF+ZA=1—H
25 April 2018 31 December 2020 From 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2020
—E-NFtAZTAhA —EFN\A=1+—H BZE-NFALA-REE 03 140,000,000
—EFNA=1—H
25 July 2019 31 August 2022 From 1 September 2019 to
31 August 2022
“E-NEFtA=+AR —“T-TF\A=1+—H BEZE-NFNA—HEZE 03 10,000,000
—Z-TFN\A=+—H
25 July 2019 31 August 2020 From 1 September 2019 to
31 August 2020
411,400,000

RAFRBE - ZFTEITE T A3
ZARRNEDEE (BIE LA RTT
{FREACHE) £&858,790,06580% @ HE
RAREEHEBITRAL13% © %
BB TERNASE IR
Eo+F+-HAMBER -

As at the date of the annual report, the total number of
Shares of the Company available for issue under the Scheme
(including the above Options outstanding not yet exercised)
was 858,790,058, representing approximately 13% of the
issued share capital of the Company as of the date thereof.
The remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 8 years and
to be expired on 4 December 2027.
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34.

35.

158

BEIRTE &)

HE_Z-—NFF+-_A=+—81t
FEMBEH2BEBRE FR-EN
HEFEEN(ZE—NF: 8N
-SRI EEENXN)EEAN
8 A #13,509,0008 T(=ZZF — N\
% 121,558,000/ T ) ° & A Z1h
BEERANEZFERZANELA
M RE0.285 B (= E— N\ F :
0325 L) (EMBOD D IFH T E
ERFAE) « L7 (E - THERE
HEN N 46.729% £ 54.568% (—F
— JUSE © 42.107% 2 47.596%) ~ 4F
[EEE AR 1.459% % 1.758% (=
T—)\F 1.561%F1.999%) o 4
TI0E3NOF(ZE—NF 1 1.652F
5.68 F ) TR AT S IR A F HA K fix B s
K164 (AT \F2RELE
M) o IRTEHIRE R ROIEERET
AERMKEE DRER_-_Z—ZF
+ZA=+—BE-Z—-hE+A
—+EHHCZCZE-NF: ZZT—=
F+A-F+MHMBAE-_Z—-N\EMNA
“+HEH)NESEREBNRTOW
FESY -HE-Z-NAFE+_-A
=+—HBIFE " #19415000%
TT(ZZF— )\F :8,364,000/87L)E
A EEREMEERERA -

iR

7 B R A [ R RS 2 G5
S E 2 I B R 09
B2 GARBRDER -

R_EBE—NFE+_A=+—H &
NE A RER(BE-NAN—F
BREQGEEER) T RRLE]D
S E ) A1,074,492,00008 T(Z F
— \% :1,188,735,000/87T) » 1%
NALE KRB EBE R IF AT
DIERFRRE - g EHARQ R EE
BEINHaERHEEEMNAZIRE
ERAKEREERE  AITEUEH
BRI EFIEL DR
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35.

SHARE OPTIONS (continuea)

The fair value of Options granted during the year ended
31 December 2019 determined using the Binomial Option
Pricing model (2018: Black-Scholes valuation model) was
approximately HK$13,509,000 (2018: HK$21,558,000). The
significant inputs into the model were share price of HK$0.285
(2018: HK$0.325), at the grant date and adjusted for the
effect of the share subdivision, exercise price shown above,
expected volatility ranged from 46.729% to 54.568% (2018:
42.107% to 47.596%), annual risk-free interest rate of 1.459%
to 1.758% (2018: 1.561% to 1.999%). Expected life of Options
of approximately 1.10 to 3.10 years (2018: 1.52 to 5.68 years)
and dividend yield of 1.64 (dividend payout ratio in 2018: Nil).
The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected
share price returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 31 December 2010 to 25 July 2019 (2018:
24 October 2012 to 25 April 2018). During the year ended 31
December 2019, approximately HK$19,415,000 (2018: HK$
8,364,000) were charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current year and prior period are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 69 of
the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company's reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) ("Companies Act”)
amounted to HK$1,074,492,000 (2018: HK$1,188,735,000).
Under the Companies Act, the Company's contributed
surplus of the Company is also available for distribution to
the Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution
made out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the
Company unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or
the realisable value of its assets would thereby become less
than its liabilities.
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B I ER R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

RESERVES (continuea)

The Group's special reserve represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of
the Company's shares in 1993, and the nominal value of the
Company's shares issued in exchange therefor.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial

information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed
are before any inter-company eliminations:

From 1 January 2018 to 31 July 2018 (date of completion of
the disposal of partly - owned subsidiaries)

BEEzKMEAR AH) LHE
R KB EMBE
TEx FExT
HK$'000 HK$'000
H At A Other income 2,686 2,005
T B Total expenses 1,624 2,888
AEI 2 F (R & Profit/(loss) for the period and total

RHR 2 2 HE comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period

wF (&8 e 1,062 (883)
MENVEE Current assets 757 542
nBaE Current liabilities 52,519 36,477
EEBZHERA Net cash flows generated from/

(i) 358 (used in) operating activities 551 (144)
WEEF RS RAFEE Net cash flows used in investing activities (567) —
BEEF 2RSS MAFRE Net cash flows generated from

financing activities 8 1
RekReFEEE 2 Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
W AR (13) (143)

AERHEMOHEMBAR -

The party-owned subsidiaries were disposal during the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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3. MERXKFAELEEEZEEIR  37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Eff—%
WEAR
FEHRR
RBRRZHE TRRES
Due to a non-
controlling
shareholders of
a subsidiary and Convertible
shareholders Borrowings bond Total
Ti#n TExn Tign Tign
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-N%—-A—-H As at 1 January 2019 183,152 376,627 350,336 910,115
BERERE Financing cash flow (86,924) 107,995 - 72,607
L] Exchange realignment - 2,596 - 2,596
AR eEE Other non-cash movement:
FERFIE Interest payable 16,800 224 34,736 224
RZE-NF+-A=1—-H Net debt as at 31 December 2019
MEBFE 113,028 487,442 385,072 985,542
Eff—4%
HWEAR
FEHRE
URBREZHE EES TRRES -
Due to a non-
controlling
shareholders of
a subsidiary and Convertible
shareholders Borrowings bond Total
Ti#n Ti#n Tign Ti#n
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
n-%-\&—A—H As at 1 January 2018 344,206 462,082 318,684 1124972
BERENE Financing cash flow (61,423) (51,520) 47,021 (65,922)
HEBRIHERER Disposal discontinued operations (115,000) (22,000) - (137,000)
E3ehE] Exchange realignment - (11,935) - (11,935)
AR eEE Other non-cash movement:
FERTFIS Interest payable 15,369 - (15,369) -
RZE-N\F+-A=T—H Net debt as at 31 December 2018
HER 8 183,152 376,627 350336 910,115
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B I ER R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

NON-CASH TRANSACTION

Major non-cash transaction:

() Disposal of property, plant and equipment with
consideration in contrast to contract liabilities of
approximately HK$5,022,000 during the year ended 31
December 2019.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group's borrowings, which are secured by
certain assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, 15, 16, 24
and 27.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

—E-NF —Z2-N\F
2019 2018
Tt T8t
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI AMERERE Contracted, but not provided for:
W -~ BEREE Property, plant and equipment 25,746 18,629
EXBAEALXRS 41. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) FREHLFMEHRREMELR
MR ZHIN  RER - AEHE
BTHERBEALRS

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions with related parties during the
year:

sz=g-—nE faR S
+=A=+—F ER=CEREg:

IEFE IHFE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

Bff 3% T8 T8

Notes HKS'000 HKS'000
M EZEER ARt Z Management fee paid to an

ERE intermediate holding company (i) 1,200 1,200
B3 Notes:

(i) MEEZERARIMZEREZEA
100,000 ;t(== — /A4 : 100,000
AETT ) ULHR ©

(i) The management fee paid to an intermediate holding company was
charged at a monthly rate of HK$100,000 (2018:HK$100,000).
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L. EXEEALTRS 2

162

(b)

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

AEBETEEEABRM

SR MSE—PHBH
R TERRMIFES ©

FXFEQ@QONBZBAEALIRS
MEN EMBRBEUAZEEE
HIBFIERR 5 °

RZE—NF+_A=+—
H BN —2REZRED
113,028,000 (=& — N\
F 183,152,000/ ) ° & &
EHAERER 2EREBFNI2
& A REE(MizE29) o
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41.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

Further details of directors’ fee end emoluments are
included in note 8 to the financial statements.

The related party transaction in respect of items (a)(i)
above also constitute connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2019, the amount due to a
shareholder is approximately HK$113,028,000 (2018:
HK$183,152,000). The amount is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and are not repayable within 12 months (note
29).
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42, BERSSz2€MTI A 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
ERNEeMIARREHRRZER The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
BT : instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

—E—h&+=A=+—8H
31 December 2019

e T
RALEZ
SHMAE

Financial

assets at

EHMEE Financial assets amortised cost
T8

HKS$'000

JEUE 5 BR 3N K B IR i Trade and bills receivables 151,471
IRtk e &AM FER Financial assets included in deposits

FIEZSREE and other receivables 6,729
EHEFRITIER Pledged bank deposits 16,877
RekReEEER Cash and cash equivalents 254,813

429,890

IR
iHE
SMAME

Financial

liahilities at

amortised

Financial liabilities cost
T8

HKS'000

ERE SRR Trade payables 47,993
P AEMEMNFIBENETEAZ  Financial liabilities included in other

TRAE payables and accruals 25,211
EE: Borrowings 487,442
JEI — R IR 2 5 Amount due to a shareholder 113,028
AR E S Convertible bond 385,072

1,058,746
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L2, IBEREI D 2EMITR%) 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

- \F+=A=+-H
31 December 2018

i E ]

BAGTEZ

EMEE

Financial

assets at

EHMEE Financial assets amortised cost

T8

HKS'000

JEWE 5 BRI R R 18 Trade and bills receivables 217,980
A Bt & N E b FE IR Financial assets included in deposits and

LEMEE other receivables 64,462

EHEBIRITER Pledged bank deposits 24,732

RekReFMEIEH Cash and cash equivalents 131,276

438,450

¥ 8 A

frEZ

- =R

Financial

liabilities at

amortised

£REE Financial liabilities cost

T8

HK$'000

JERTE 5 BR K Trade payables 41,849

P AEMEMZIBRETEA Y Financial liabilities included in other

TEHAE payables and accruals 48,570

B Borrowings 376,627

e — R E 2 FKIB Amount due a shareholder 183,152

AR ES Convertible bond 350,336

1,000,534
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44,

B #E SR R P RE (£B)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of the Group's
financial assets and liabilities, the balance were approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2019 (2018 financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2018: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly comprise
trade and bills receivables, deposits and other recevables,
cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, borrowings, and
amount due to a non-controlling shareholder and convertible
bonds.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the
functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group
does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the
Head of Credit Control.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 December
2019

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 1 January 2019 and 31
December 2019.

IREAE
Gross carrying
amount
F#x
HK$'000

EiaRE
Loss
allowance
T
HK$'000

FRHAGS IR R
Expected

loss rate

RZE—NF 31 December 2019
+=—A=+—H
BVHA (AR HA) Current (not past due) 1.038% 148,830 1,545
BHD A F Less than 1 year past due 100% 181 181
149,011 1,726
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B #E SR R P RE (£B)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 December
2018

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 1 January 2018 and 31
December 2018.

FEHiESIEE IREAE EiakiE
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEx Fi#&x
HKS'000 HKS$'000
—TE-)N\F 31 December 2018
+=-—A=+—H

BER( K@ ER) Current (not past due) 0.064% 211,308 135
BHD A F Less than 1 year past due 100% 3,409 3,409
214,717 3,044

TMENE =B B Liquidity risk

AREBUAREMERDESHETA
EREESHRER R THEEZ
HemTANSREE(WEWES
R 2 BIERIE I - TR X
ZBREREBR

AEBEERRITERRRITEE
B BRNICESFEERERMES
BEGE & - REER _-_T—NF
T-A=+—B—FREHPZRT
fE AR YR 5 AR T (B i R 70 B 7S sl 3R
A o

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings and banking facilities. The Group's bank
borrowings would mature in less than one year as at 31
December 2019 based on the carrying value of borrowings
reflected in the financial statements.
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k. BIEREISEEHERBE 4h. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(4&) (continued)
nEBESEREE) Liquidity risk (continued)
RIBEBR - UBEFTHRELIBFIE The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at
REX AEESRBECERD the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
BRI - undiscounted payments, is as follows:

—2-nE+=A=+—FH
31 December 2019
REFS RERR
BERFI= BB—F 2RELE
Weighted

average Total
effective Less than Over  undiscounted

interest rate 1year 1year cash flows Total
Tign FEx FiEgx FEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

e B SRR Trade payables - 47,993 = 47,993 47,993
JIAEMMENTIER  Financial liabilities included in

EAER2SmABME  other payables and accruals - 25,211 = 25,211 25,211
&% Borrowings 733 335730 193,250 528,980 487,442
JERN— 2R 2 FIE  Amount due to a shareholder 113,028 113,028 113,028

Rk ES Convertible bond 14.28 399,209 = 399,209 385,072

808,143 306,278 1,114,421 1,058,746

—E2-N\F+ZA=t-H
31 December 2018
¥ AERE
ERRZE SR-F BE-F LRELR st
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than undiscounted
interest rate Tyear Over1year  cashflows Total

TR TET TR TET
%  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000

BT E SHRT Trade payables - 41,849 - 41,849 41,849
S BEAERFIER Financial liabilities included in

EHER eREE other payables and accruals - 48,570 - 48,570 48,570
&3 Borrowings 6.18 88916 339,429 428,345 376,627
B — B R 2 508 Amount due to a shareholder - - 183,152 183,152 183,152
akES Convertible bond 14.28 - 377,211 377,211 350,336

179,335 899,792 1079127 1,000,534
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B I ER R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZF—NF+=A=1+—HL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the Renminbi exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (due to changes in
the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

—g-nEt=A
=+-8

BBTHUTEY
EREME :
ARH
BBTHUTEY
ERFHE :
ARH

—2—-N\F+=H
=+—H

EB T AT E
2 5 18
AR

EB AT E
FE % FHE
AR

TREZER

31 December 2019

WAnER 2 i,
#5 CEd)RE=E"

Change Increase/
Change in profit (decrease)
in rate before tax in equity*
% T#Ex Fi#x

% HK$'000 HK$'000

gHaat

If the Hong Kong dollar

weakens against:
Renminbi

If the Hong Kong dollar
strengthens against:

Renminbi

31 December 2018

If the Hong Kong dol
weakens against:

Renminbi

If the Hong Kong dol

strengthens against:

Renminbi

4 13,594 -

4 (13,594) -
lar

4 13,274 -
lar

4 (13,274) -

Excluding accumulated losses

MR EEIERBR AR
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ZEARLE  UXFKEEBNES
PIREE -

AEBEBEEEAER  THAEL
EARR 2 BB 2 & E R R TR
AR ERF/BIAABELELRERE
B AEEKERKRERRE A
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HEBEERER  AEBZBRR
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year ended 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2018.

The Group monitors capital using a current ratio, which is
current assets divided by current liabilities. The Group's policy
is to maintain the current ratio over one. The current ratios as
at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

BEZF-NF el It
p=: R -l +—A=+—H

IFFE IEFE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

F#&x Fi&x

HK$'000 HK$'000

mENVEE Current assets 888,298 689,070
mEEE Current liabilities 804,577 172,078
mELL = Current ratio 1.10 4.01
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

BT Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
—E-hEF —E-N\F
+=A=+—H Ep=¥: %
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
T FExT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSET
B AR ZRE Investments in subsidiaries 1,752,000 1,752,000
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
JE U B B8~ ) 508 Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,135,546 743,976
UG Prepayments 830 720
H th JrE U X Other receivable 28 56,021
Be MiR1TTHE% Cash and bank balances 108,778 270
MBEERLER Total current assets 1,245,182 800,987
REBAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
HibpEN R IE R EETEA  Other payables and accruals 3,067 1,657
RITIER Bank borrowings 32,872 —
HAER Other borrowings 179,020 —
Al fR &5 Convertible bond 385,072 —
mEBABEE Total current liabilities 600,031 1,657
RBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 645,151 799,330
EEHAEBERABDAERS TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,397,151 2,551,330

BERHR R EER AR QA
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45. AR B2 MR RTE) 45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
—E-hEF —E-N\EF
+=A=+—0 G¥: k]
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
Fi&x Fi&T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FnRBERE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
B Borrowing 93,454 160,147
JE <t B 4R PR N B FR0A Amount due to ultimate
holding company 565,767 182,942
BEERIEEE Deferred tax liability 5,999 11,731
AR E S Convertible bond — 350,336
665,220 705,156
BEFE Net assets 1,731,931 1,846,174
% #E EQUITY
2T Issued capital 657,439 657,439
(M FE) Reserves (note) 1,074,492 1,188,735
I i fa KB Total equity 1,731,931 1,846,174
Hj%%iﬁﬁﬁig%%E A ‘f/’/‘_\ H The financial statement was approved and authorised for issue
%&%%@%ﬁt&?ﬁ% HIED - BT by the board of directors on 16 April 2020 and was signed on
FIEEREKEE its behalf by:
A B EE
Mr. Shum Sai Chit Mr. Chi Jing Chao
o BZE
Director Director
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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45. AR ZBIEARRET 2) 45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
s Note:
AARZREEHEWT - A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:

B4R
R ERR

Share
premium
account
T
HK$'000

BB

Contributed
surplus
TET
HK$'000

=&

W fEE
Capital
redemption
reserve
T
HK$'000

WRRES
IR
Convertible
bond equity

reserve
T
HK$'000

BRE
11
Share
option

reserve

TET

HK$'000

Rt R ot

Accumulated
losses Total
T T
HK$'000 HK$'000

RZE-N\$—A—H As at 1 January 2018 1,560,077 21976 419 86,548 - (488,885) 1,180,135
FEBERZABBER Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year - - - - - 233 233
BREERNNRZR S Equity settled share-based transaction - - - - 8,367 - 8,367
RZE-NF+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018
EZZT-nF—A—H and 1 January 2019 1,560,077 21,976 419 86,548 8,367 (488,652) 1,188,735
FEBERZEABBER Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year - - - - - (100,786) (100,786)
BRRE Dividend paid = = = = = (32,872) (32,872)
REEERHEIRZR S Equity settled share-based transactions - - - - 19,415 - 19,415
R-Z-h&E+=A=t-H As at 31 December 2019 1,560,077 21,976 419 86,548 27,782 (622,310) 1,074,492

RRRZHBABBERE-NLNL=
FARRA B EMATATETZ &
BEAMBEBEZHEBERRRNZ
NP EBE SRR F A T
ZARBRMDEEZ D RIE
—NN\—FBERERFEL —HA
FAIEE THERT - WA RRER
NZHRARMEKB IR DK ©

BERHR R EER AR QA

The Company's contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of
the Company's shares in 1993, over the nominal value of
the Company's shares issued in exchange therefor. Under
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, a company may make
distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus in
certain circumstances.
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46.

47.

48.

NE+=A=+—HILFJZ For the year ended 31 December 2019

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The coronavirus disease 2019 ("COVID-19") outbreak since
early 2020 has brought additional uncertainties in the global
macroeconomic situation. Despite the challenges, governments
and international organisations have implemented a series
of measures to contain the epidemic. The directors of the
Company will closely monitor the development of the epidemic
and assess its impact on the operation of the Group.

On 15 January 2020, the existing holders of the Convertible
Bonds agreed to extend the maturity date, subject to the
certain undertakings given by the Company, for a further three
years to 31 January 2023. Convertible Bonds with principal
amount of HK$420,000,000 were extended to 31 January 2023,
subject to the approval from the independent shareholders of
Company on 11 March 2020. The interest rate of Convertible
Bonds will be changed from 4% per annum to 3% per annum
from (and including) 1 December 2020 thereof up to (and
excluding) 31 January 2023. Details of these are set out in the
Company’ s announcements dated 18 February 2020 and 11
March 2020.

COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with current year's presentation.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16 April 2020.
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R E S
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

This summary does not form part of the audited financial

Zm o statements.
24E RESULTS
—E—RE BZE HE
MA—HZ BHE ZEB-N\F = k-
BEZ —E-R —E—+tF +=8 +=A
—E—RE +=8 +=8 == =—
=A =+-H == HEE HEE
=+-H i LFE For the year For the year
LLEE For the period For the ended G
For the year  from 1 April 2016 year ended 3 3
ended 31 March  to 31 December 31 December December December
2016 2016 2017 2018 2019
TR TExT TEx T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&BE50)
(Restated)
M) i) Hrit (i) B (i)
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i) Note (ii)
BESEEY Continuing operations
WA Revenue 139,537 1,122,905 1,158,260 1,537,781 1,515,291
B AR Profit before tax 265 215,163 233,073 267,526 263,128
s Income tax - (56,811) (55,291) (49,835) (53,396)
KEE/HEREHE Profit for the year/period
REEBRM from continuing operations 265 158,352 177,782 217,691 209,732
RE K IHEEER 2% F Profit from discontinued
operations - - 6,285 68,169 -
KERE/Hm a7 Profit for the year/period 265 158,352 184,067 285,860 209,732
FEIRF/ (EE) - Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
ARRIRIERB A Equity holders of the Company 268 137,061 168,320 285,772 209,732
eIl Non-controlling interests (3) 21,291 15,747 88 -
KEE/ HREF Profit for the year/period 265 158,352 184,067 285,860 209,732
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2019 BFERE 175



B EE iR (48)
FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

EEHAH ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

# # B’
R CB—AF —B—tF —2-N\F
—®—»% +=B +=B +=A
=§ =+-8B =+-8 =+-8

=+—H As at As at 31 As at 31 Asat 31
Asat 31 December December December December
31 March 2016 2016 2017 2018 2019
FiEx TEx FEx FiEx Fi&x
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Biat ) Bzt i) Bzt i) Kzt i)
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
BERE Total assets 853,742 2,126,175 2,558,801 2,372,218 2,554,324
BEESE Total liabilities (367,240) (967,240)  (1,435,557)  (1,101,001) (1,166,437)

486,502 1,158,935 1123244 1,271,217 1,387,887

NNl =Y =P\ Equity attributable to equity

FE1G AR holders of the Company 492,765 1,016,076 1,131,080 1,271,217 1,387,887
FEIE S MR R Non-controlling interests (6,263) 142,859 (7,.836) - -

486,502 1,158,935 1123244 1,271,217 1,387,887

B 5E Note:

(i) XEREAERABEZ BB T NIRARFEED % (i) The comparative figures of the results and asset and liabilities have been prepared based
ZHFFRMER - on the previous annual report published in the corresponding years.

(ii) AEEZ 2 BENEE_E—-N\F+=-A=+—H (ii) The Group has re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the year ended 31
IEFEZ BRI EEBN LR BLEKRIE - December 2018 had been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period.
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